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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
Elite Partners CPA Limited

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Hang Seng Bank Limited
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

THE CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

SMP Partners (Cayman) Limited

Royal Bank House — 3rd Floor,

24 Shedden Road

P.O. Box 1586

Grand Cayman KY1-1110, Cayman Islands

REGISTERED OFFICE
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF

BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Unit A, 12/F., Guangdong Investment Tower,
148 Connaught Road Central,

Hong Kong

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND

TRANSFER AGENT

Tricor Investor Services Limited

Level 22, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

(which will be changed to

Level 54, Hopewell Centre,

183 Queen’s Road East,

Hong Kong with effect from 11 July 2019)

STOCK CODE
932

COMPANY’ S WEBSITE

www.shunten.com.hk

(the contents of which do not form part of this report)
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

$ 255 1Bt 22

HIGHLIGHTS e
For the year ended 31 March
BE=H=+—HIL4EE
2019 2018
TR e SIS %
HK$’000 HK$’000 Change
Tt FHIT S
Operations E 3ot
Revenue & 5 393,487 264,451 48.8%
Gross profit BVl 255,611 181,148 41.1%
Profit/(loss) from operations RS (EstE) 20,475 (133,482) N/AAE
Loss for the year attributable to: NS AN 7
Owners of the Company EN/NEIE XS DN (4,344) (139,217) (96.9%)
Non-controlling interests FEFE A 25 (6,367) (5,531) 15.1%
(10,711) (144,748) (92.6%)
Loss per share attributable to V/NEIE 2SN
owners of the Company JREA A 1 e 1R
(expressed in HK cents) (LA )
Basic BN 0.2) (6.6) (97.0%)
Diluted i 0.2) (6.6) (97.0%)
As at 31 March
RE=HA=+—H
2019 2018
ZE A —F— )\ %
HK$°000 HK$’000 Change
Tt T S
Financial position T BRIV
Total assets B AR 792,430 769,778 2.9%
Shareholders’ equity &R AE S 161,968 114,791 41.1%
Net assets value per share (HK$) B I 7 E () 0.08 0.05 60.0%
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INFORMATION FOR INVESTORS

SHARE INFORMATION

Board lot size
As at the last trading day of the financial year ended 31 March 2019:
2,123,002,150 shares
HK$1,040,271,054
HK$0.49

4,000 shares

*  Shares outstanding
*  Market capitalisation
e Closing share price

KEY DATES

e Latest time for lodging transfer documents for
registration in order to qualify for attending
and voting at 2019 annual general meeting

4:30 pm, 13 August 2019

*  Closure of register of members
for 2019 annual general meeting

14 — 19 August 2019

e 2019 annual general meeting 19 August 2019

INVESTOR RELATION CONTACT

Address Unit A, 12/F., Guangdong Investment Tower,
148 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong

Telephone (852) 3700 7300

Fax : (852) 3700 7301

E-mail ir@shunten.com.hk

Website www.shunten.com.hk

SHAREHOLDER ENQUIRIES

Any matters relating to your shareholding, e.g. transfer of shares, change of name
or address, lost share certificate and dividend warrants, should be sent in writing to:

Tricor Investor Services Limited
Address Level 22, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

(which will be changed to

Level 54, Hopewell Centre,

183 Queen’s Road East,

Hong Kong with effect from 11 July 2019)
Telephone (852) 2980 1333
Fax : (852) 28108185
is-enquiries @hk.tricorglobal.com
http://www.tricoris.com

E-mail
Website
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
B8

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Shunten
International (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries,
the “Group”), I would like to announce the annual results of the Group for the

financial year ended 31 March 2019 (“FY2018/19”).

PERFORMANCE FOR THE YEAR

The total revenue of the Group for FY2018/19 reached HK$393.5 million,
representing an increase of 48.8% as compared to the financial year ended 31
March 2018 (“FY2017/18”). The core health and beauty supplements and products
business generated revenue of HK$312.7 million, whereas online businesses,
including online advertising agent business, online payment business, e-commerce
promotion business and game distribution business, generated revenue of HK$80.8

million during the year.

After more than one year of business integration, the online business operation has
exhibited rising contribution in the Group’s revenue. Online businesses accounted
for HK$80.8 million or 20.5% of the total revenue of the Group in FY2018/19,
indicated around four times of growth in percentage of revenue contribution.
The percentage of revenue from the health and beauty supplements and products
segment decreased from 94.8% in FY2017/18 to 79.5% in FY2018/19.

The net loss attributable to owners of the Company substantially decreased from
HK$139.2 million in FY2017/18 to approximately HK$4.3 million in FY2018/19.
The improvement in our results were attributed to (i) the significant increase in
revenue from our core business; (ii) the decrease in one-off legal and professional
fee as compared to the corresponding period of previous year; and (iii) gain on
net fair value of the convertible bonds issued by the Company in 2017 and other
liabilities as a result of accounting treatments, which do not have any actual impact

on the results of the operations and cash flows of the Group.

The Group’s overall gross profit margin for FY2018/19 was approximately 65.0%
(FY2017/18: 68.5%), representing a decrease of approximately 3.5 percentage
points over the corresponding period of previous year. Such decrease was mainly
due to lower gross profit margins of the online business segment as compared to

that of the health and beauty supplements and products segment of the Group.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

PROSPECTS

While facing a global market full of challenges in 2019 under the turmoil of China-
US Trade War, the Group has been able to maintain our market leader position.
Looking forward, the health and beauty supplements business will still continue to
be our core business which contributes a stable revenue to the Group. Moreover,
the newly acquired H365 Group in December 2018 is expected to generate more
income from different diversified market channels. The management targets to
have another year of record-breaking returns for our shareholders. Other business
sectors such as the game distribution platform and online advertising agency
segment as well as the online payment segment have already shown improvement
in operational performance.

Regarding the game distribution segment, as we have secured more triple A grade
games distributorships, the revenue generated from game distribution business is
likely to grow at a higher momentum. Online payment business segment has been
facing tough market environment and intensifying competition. We have made
various efforts to expand our marketing team. More income stream from online
payment related services and launching of mini programs are likely to raise our
profit margin and secure more client acquisition. At the same time, our online
advertising agency segment has attracted an increasing number of partners and
business associations in launching brand campaigns after our successful brand
campaign in 2018. Currently, our partner business associations and their affiliated
counterparties have covered over 3,000 registered corporate members in the
Greater Bay Area. Such network resources will definitely generate substantial

revenue and quality clientele to the Group.

Through internal integration and synergy among different segments, the
management believes that we may achieve a more balanced income portfolio with
improving returns for shareholders. Meanwhile, as our honorable mission, the
Group will still continue to participate in philanthropic causes proactively and
strive to undertake corporate social responsibility.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Employees are the prime assets for corporate growth. On behalf of the Board, I
would like to thank our employees and the management team for their dedication
to excellence in performing their work diligently, strong teamwork and valuable
contributions. I would also like to thank our shareholders and stakeholders for their
unwavering trust and steadfast support.

By order of the Board

Wang Xihua
Acting Chairman
Hong Kong

26 June 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o PR W i B T

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the formulating, marketing, sales and
distribution of health and beauty supplements and products in Hong Kong and the
PRC, provision of online advertising agency business, online payment business,
e-commerce promotion business and game distribution business. During the year
ended 31 March 2019, we have been facing a very challenging year for Hong
Kong and nearby retail and fast-moving consumer goods market. The China-US
trade war initiated in the second half of 2018 has posed rising threat to the global
market. Market sentiment in local market has also been suppressed by both the
local political and economic atmosphere. Consequently, the above stated factors
have resulted in declining retail sales and negative growth. Since both our core
business and E-business are retail and consumer related, the Group is consistently
deploying a variety of measures to achieve higher return for our shareholders.
Notwithstanding the above, the Group has successfully acquired H365 Group in
December 2018 to strengthen our existing core business operations particularly in
diversification and expansion of sales and distribution channels. The management
believes that the acquisition will offer excellent opportunity for the Group to raise
our market penetration in health and beauty supplements and products market.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately
HK$393.5 million (2018: HK$264.5 million), representing an increase of
approximately HK$129.0 million or 48.8% over the corresponding period last
year. Revenue from the core business, health and beauty supplements and products
segment, contributed approximately HK$312.7 million (2018: HK$250.8 million),
representing 79.5% (2018: 94.8%) of the total revenue of the Group. Meanwhile,
online advertising agency business, online payment business, e-commerce
promotion business and game distribution business contributed HK$11.6 million,
HK$14.9 million, HK$7.5 million and HK$46.8 million respectively to the revenue
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019. These online businesses accounted
for approximately HK$80.8 million (2018: HK$13.7 million), representing 20.5%
(2018: 5.2%) of the total revenue of the Group. The increase in revenue from online
businesses was due to the Group’s “Internet Plus” connectivity strategy launched
last year, which exhibited successful diversification of business. Given the broader
revenue base and internal synergy among different intragroup business entities, it is
expected that the performance of the online businesses of the Group can be further
improved in the near future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The gross profit margin of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 was
approximately 65.0% (2018: 68.5%), representing a decrease of approximately
3.5 percentage points over the corresponding period of the previous year. Such
decrease was mainly due to lower gross profit margins of the online business
segments as compared to that of the health and beauty supplements and products
segment of the Group.

Major factors which contributed to the loss of the previous financial year were
under control and the impact thereof was minimised. These improved results were
attributed to (i) the significant increase in revenue from our core business; (ii) the
decrease in one-off legal and professional fee as compared to the corresponding
period of the previous year; and (iii) net fair value gain on convertible bonds issued
by the Company in 2017 and other liabilities as a result of accounting treatments,
which do not have any actual impact on the results of the operations and cash flows
of the Group. The Group reported a loss of approximately HK$10.7 million for
the year ended 31 March 2019 as compared to the loss of HK$144.7 million of the
corresponding period in 2018.

Health and beauty supplements and products segment
Revenue of health and beauty supplements and products segment
As at 31 March 2019, the Group sold and distributed 77 (2018: 33) health
supplements and 11 (2018: 8) beauty supplements and products under its
proprietary brands; 59 (2018: 53) health supplements and Nil (2018: 1) beauty
supplement and product under the distribution facilitator’s private label brands; and

9 (2018: 14) health supplements under trading of goods.

The following table sets forth the breakdown of revenue by product categories for
the two years ended 31 March 2019:

o BILJE W i B 4y e

BE Z-JUEZA =+ —HIEEE > REEM
B HL £565.0% (—FE—/)\4E : 68.5%) > #EF4E
A kA3 SR 4 B o Tk R B AR RS
T AE LA AR ] R K S5 254 i S E i 0 R 1 B
BRI g, o

R R B BUE IR R RS O
D2 o) B L 20 8 AR o WS A AR T
Q)P B A% L 2B AW 35 KRS 5 i) — kA
R HE A AR R A T s R AR
AR BT 2 AT O R 2 A T AR
TFRE B R e s s AR 2 HAh B > BAREE
S04 S T B A U I AT AT B R o AR AR )
WEE F—UFE = = — B IR E RS EER
#110,700,000#5 7T > 10— 7% — /\ SE K0 1 1] 2]
JE548144,700,000% IC ©

PR A B2 35 258 fh T 2 i 43 9

TR 18 JE FE 2517l i T 5 iy 47 BB W ik
MRoF—NEZH=+—H  REBFEE I8
TTER(ZF— AR 333K) 3R AR A 5 & 1
A ZE— A« 83K B A Fh RS 284 b T i
SOF (T — \AE © 5350) A SRR B K 5 R AR
RS B BTk (L — A 130 s B R
ol RS A o S B 5 MO (U — A 1 143K)
T o P PR AR O e

TREIEE —F-NAEZA = —H IR
JRE i S 23 A Wi WA

For the year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=Z+—HIE4E

2019 2018
&2 T\
% of total % of total
HK$’000 revenue HK$’000 revenue
Al S8 A A5 A 2
T#5t A4 THT [EFigia
Categories g |
Health supplements PR g 267,860 85.6% 213,658 85.2%
Beauty supplements and products 5 25 T JE 43,985 14.1% 28,371 11.3%
Others HAth 883 0.3% 8,768 3.5%
Total AT 312,728 100.0% 250,797 100.0%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o PR W i B T

The health and beauty supplements and products segment recorded a revenue
of approximately HK$312.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018:
HK$250.8 million), representing an increase of approximately HK$61.9 million or

24.7% over the previous year.

The overall increase in revenue was due to an increase in sales of health
supplements, of which HK$43.1 million was resulted from the expansion of the
product variety of private label health supplements, which was promoted by the
engagement of a brand ambassador in Hong Kong. Benefited from increased
utilisation of digital marketing platform and building product popularity within
the health supplement market, the revenue attributable to health supplements
increased by approximately HK$54.2 million or 25.4% to HK$267.9 million
(2018: HK$213.7 million).

The Group acquired H365 Group in December 2018 and H365 Group contributed
HKS$4.2 million to the revenue, representing 1.3% of the segment’s total revenue
for the year ended 31 March 2019.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the top 4 best-selling products were Royal
Medic No.l Chinese Cs-4, RM Broken Ganoderma Spore, Melty Enzyme
and Health Proof Junior Milk CA+DHA PF, which in aggregate contributed
approximately HK$113.7 million or 36.4% of the segment’s total revenue.

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the top 4 best-selling products were Royal
Medic No.l Chinese Cs-4, RM Broken Ganoderma Spore, Melty Enzyme
and Health Proof Junior Milk CA+DHA PF, which in aggregate contributed

approximately HK$90.0 million or 35.9% of the segment’s total revenue.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Revenue (by sales and distribution channels)

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the health and beauty supplements
and products segment’s revenue by distribution channels for the two years ended
31 March 2019:

o BILJE W i B 4y e

Weas (181 B R 73 G RAE H] 4)
TREFEE T AFEZA =+ 1L mEE
JBE 52 9 R 2 ) 7 AR A 5 A i B it 2 B MR
it (19 W &

For the year ended 31 March
BE=ZHZ="4—HIESE

2019 2018
&R JusE TR\
% of total % of total
HK$’000 revenue HK$°000 revenue
sy tiEn
T Halb THIT Ao
Shelves in distribution facilitators’ stores AT e 43 S AT Y
in Hong Kong jog 151,150 48.4% 134,017 53.4%
Special designated counters (“SDCs”) T T 43 B AC B B A 4 Al
located in distribution facilitators’ stores He AL ([R5 E AL 1)
in Hong Kong 141,047 45.1% 90,663 36.2%
Other distribution channels (Note 1) oAt 2 B 9248 (k1) 1,719 0.5% 9,291 3.7%
Hong Kong Brands and Products Expo kT e 18,205 5.8% 15,608 6.2%
Others (Note 2) oAt (Bt 3E2) 607 0.2% 1,218 0.5%
Total A 312,728 100.0 % 250,797 100.0%

Note 1: “Other distribution channels” mainly includes a distribution facilitator in Taiwan and the
PRC, the Wisdom Club, wholesalers, and Royal Medic Chinese Medicine Clinics.

Note 2: “Others” mainly represents service income.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had 19 (2018: 18) Royal Medic SDCs, 44 (2018:
30) Health Proof SDCs and 28 (2018: Nil) H365 SDCs in distribution facilitators’
stores in Hong Kong.

Revenue (by geographical locations)
Over 99.0% of the revenue for the two years ended 31 March 2019 was contributed
by the Hong Kong market, with very limited contribution from the PRC market.

Owing to the economic slowdown in Taiwan, the operations of the health and
beauty supplements business line in Taiwan was experiencing challenge in the past
few years. The Group tried different approaches to improve its performance but
was still not satisfactory and sustained losses. The Company is of the view that
the resources of the Group could be better allocated for other existing or potential
businesses and decided to close down the operation in Taiwan during the year
ended 31 March 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o PR W i B T

Results of health and beauty supplements and products segment

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the health and beauty supplements
and products segment’s gross profit and gross profit margin by operating segments
for the two years ended 31 March 2019:

TR 1 T SE 1l i J 7 i 4 S SE A
T%ﬁﬁﬂéﬁﬁgighﬁ = A =t+—HkmmEa

ARG 73 H ) 3 DR A T2 25 ol i % E i 00 TR
*U&%*U%E‘J%%ﬂi :

For the year ended 31 March
BE=ZH=Z"1—HILHE

2019 2018
R A ZE—)\F
HK$’000 % HK$’000 %
Tt B R THT SEVIIES
Health supplements R A2

Proprietary brands HUA 100,939 78.8% 80,269 75.4%
Private label brands EELT 100,663 82.7% 65,529 83.3%
Trading of goods e 12,352 68.3% 11,679 40.9%
213,954 79.9 % 157,477 73.7%

Beauty supplements and products LA T R
Proprietary brands B S 31,447 71.5% 17,533 61.9%
Private label brands EERT - - 26 74.3%
31,447 71.5% 17,559 61.9%
Others HoAth 675 76.5% 740 8.4%
Total et 246,076 78.7% 175,776 70.1%
Owing to the increase in the segment turnover, the gross profit of the health and  H i 4> ¥4 £ & > #E ~F—JLE=H

beauty supplements and products segment for the year ended 31 March 2019 was
approximately HK$246.1 million (2018: HK$175.8 million), representing an
increase of approximately 40.0% over the previous year. The gross profit margin
of the health and beauty supplements and products segment for the year ended 31
March 2019 increased to approximately 78.7% (2018: 70.1%). The increase in
gross profit margin was mainly attributed to the change in sales composition.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The selling and distribution expenses of the segment increased by approximately
HKS$18.0 million or 36.3% to HK$67.6 million for the year ended 31 March
2019 (2018: HK$49.6 million). The selling and distribution expenses increased
in line with the increase in segment turnover during the year. The said increase in
expenses was also due to additional resources that has been employed by the Group
to conduct digital marketing through bloggers and KOLs (key opinion leaders) in
addition to the traditional marketing media, so as to boarden the customer base.
The administrative expenses of this segment also increased primarily due to the
inflated rental expenses of special designated counter and increase in headcounts.
The administrative expenses of the segment increased by approximately HK$26.9
million or 28.1% to HK$122.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018:
HK$95.6 million).

As a result, the segment profits increased by HK$26.6 million to approximately
HK$57.1 million, representing a significant increase of approximately 87.2% over
the previous year (2018: HK$30.5 million).

Online advertising agency segment

Revenue of online advertising agency segment

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the online advertising agency business
segment recorded revenue of approximately HK$11.6 million (for the period from
14 April 2017 to 31 March 2018: HK$9.4 million), representing an increase of
approximately HK$2.2 million or 23.4% over the period from 14 April 2017 to 31
March 2018.

Since the acquisition of Star Root Limited in April 2017, its subsidiary Tenfok
Asia Limited (“Tenfok Asia”) has become the cross-border online advertising arm
of the Group and it has been the only Hong Kong and overseas content partner of
gd.qq.com under the name of Hong Kong Station of gd.qq.com. gd.qq.com has
been the joint venture project between Tencent Group and Nanfang Daily Media
Group (74 7 ¥ 3 I 4E ), the largest media company in the Greater Bay Area
since 2011. According to unaudited figures, total number of viewers of gd.qq.com
per month exceeds 200 million. Leveraging on the affiliated Apps function of Hong
Kong Station of gd.qq.com, we can achieve the multi-platform function and boost

our advertising content to reach over 200 million viewers per month.

According to a popular and market measurement of actual viewership, the number
of followers under our WeChat official account doubled from around 2 million
in March 2018 to around 4.1 million in March 2019. Tenfok Asia also uses the
Facebook platform of Hong Kong Station of gd.qq.com in Hong Kong which
allows our advertising clients to have exposure to the Facebook channel of Hong

Kong Station of gd.qq.com.

o BILJE W i B 4y e
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o PR W i B T

Result of online advertising agency segment

Hong Kong Station of gd.qq.com successfully built the news media connecting
Hong Kong and Mainland China with a focus on features that cater to the needs
of Mainland users for entertainment, lifestyle and fashion information in Hong
Kong. The portal provides online and offline information platforms that cover
entertainment, food, tourism, beauty, fashion, parent-child interaction, pets and

E-sports, so as to extend the time users spend on their terminal devices.

The management has exercised strong cost control and expanded the income
stream by strengthening the brand with Tencent Group. The results are very
promising as proven by the fact that online advertising agency segment recorded
a loss of HK$6.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 (including the
amortisation for the financial year recorded HK$5.8 million). In addition, from
January to March 2019, Tenfok Asia is on an improving trend. The management is

optimistic over the future income stream.

Online payment business segment
Since our acquisition of Empire Access Limited (“Empire Access”) in September
2017, the online payment business has been offering stable contribution in income

and clientele to the Group and further diversifing the Group’s overall business.

In addition to N Dimension Limited (“N Dimension”), a subsidiary of Empire
Access, and one of the authorised WeChat payment service providers in Hong
Kong, the Group has set up another marketing arm, Junten Technology Limited
(“Junten”), to capture the integrated payment service segment. They jointly
provide peripheral software, settlement and hardware solutions support to
merchants in Hong Kong for adopting the integrated cross-border electronic fund

transfer system.

The monthly payment amount on e-payment processed through our system grew
significantly from HK$64.1 million in March 2018 to HK$187.1 million in March
2019, representing a 191.9% year-on-year growth.

Revenue of online payment segment

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the online payment segment recorded revenue
of approximately HK$14.9 million (for the period from 22 September 2017 to 31
March 2018: HK$1.8 million), representing multiple folds of strong increase.

Online payment service serves as an important platform for our internet
e-commerce business. We strengthened our dominance in the field of mobile
payment (in terms of the number of active accounts) and further enhanced our

penetration in commercial transactions.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Results of online payment segment

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the online payment segment recorded a loss of
HK$4.1 million. N Dimension started to contribute operating profit from December
2018 onwards. With proper cost control and proactive market expansion strategy,

we are optimistic on the prospect of this segment.

Out of the loss for the year ended 31 March 2019 of HK$4.1 million, of which
HK$3.3 million loss was incurred by the newly setup subsidiary, Junten. Since
Junten was a newly setup entity in which the money services operators licence and
other third-party payment related licences were granted in early 2019, the loss can
be regarded as the cost incurred during the course of investment and is of a non-
recurrent in nature. It is expected future income stream will emerge in the coming

year.

Game distribution segment

The Group completed the acquisition of [AHGames Hong Kong Limited
(“IAHGames”) in February 2018, which is a publisher and distributor of video
games and offers video game developers a single point of access to bring video
games from around the world to gamers in Greater China and Southeast Asia. The
game distribution segment performed strongly during the year. The basic game
publishing and distribution business grew significantly during the year with the
increased number of games titles and direct reselling of blockbuster titles like Call

of Duty Black Operations 4 and Overcooked.

Revenue of game distribution segment

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the game distribution segment recorded a
revenue of approximately HK$46.8 million, which accounted for 11.9% of the total
revenue of the Group. During the year, the Company has started its new online
e-commerce business through the direct sales of game products to the Greater
China market. The game publishing and distribution business and online business
unit recorded sales of HK$41.7 million and HK$5.1 million respectively. The
revenue of this segment shall continue to improve by leveraging the establishment
of direct reseller relationship with major game storage card providers to increase
the margin. By virtue of the direct relationship with game distributor or studio,
IAHGames has also taken up marketing execution appointed by the distributor or

publisher which results in the increase revenue from marketing consulting.

IAHGames has successfully achieved the geographic diversification from Hong
Kong market alone in first half of the financial year to include and capture ASEAN
markets in the second half of the year ended 31 March 2019. This segment
contributed the fastest growing part in the consolidated revenue of the Group, of
which the revenue from Singapore accounted for approximately HK$7.4 million or

15.8% of total revenue in the game distribution segment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Results of game distribution segment
During the year ended 31 March 2019, the game distribution segment recorded an
operating loss of approximately HK$0.8 million.

Segment reporting
The particular of segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities are set out in

note 34 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Equity-settled share-based payments

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group recognised a total expense of
HK$37.0 million (2018: HK$29.3 million) in relation to the share options granted
by the Company.

Loss for the year

As a result of the foregoing factors, the Group’s loss amounted to approximately
HK$10.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: HK$144.7 million). The
Group’s loss attributable to the owners of the Company amounted to approximately
HK$4.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: HK$139.2 million).

Disclaimer

Save for Royal Medic No.l Chinese Cs-4, none of the Group’s products is
registered under the Pharmacy and Poison Ordinance (Chapter 138 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) and the Chinese Medicine Ordinance (Chapter 549 of the Laws of
Hong Kong). Any claim made by those products has not been subject to evaluation
for such registration. Those products are not intended to diagnose, treat or prevent

any disease.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

As at 31 March 2019, the intangible assets and goodwill of the Group amounted
to approximately HK$211.7 million (2018: HK$206.2 million) and approximately
HK$199.9 million (2018: 177.5 million) respectively. Intangible assets include but
not limited to licensing agreements with both definite and indefinite useful lives,
brand name and customer relationship. Goodwill has arisen upon the Group’s

acquisition.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

An independent professional valuer was engaged to perform impairment
assessment on the goodwill. It was found that the recoverable amounts of
cash generating unit exceeded their respective carrying amounts. Under this

circumstance, no impairment on the goodwill is considered to be necessary.

(i) Intangible assets with indefinite life
The Board considered that the service agreement between the Group and
TenPay Payment Technology Company Limited (the “Service Agreement”)
for the provision of Wechat Pay cross-boarder solutions and integrated
online payment platform to be intangible assets of the Group with indefinite
life (the “Intangible Assets”). WeChat Payment Services is a payment
feature integrated into the Wechat application which allows the end users to

complete payment to a merchant with smartphones.

An annual review had been performed by the Board and management of
the Company to determine whether events and circumstances continue to
support the indefinite useful life assessment. In determining the useful life of
the Intangible Assets, the Board and the management of the Company took
into account (i) the relevant contract terms of the Service Agreement; and (ii)

the characteristics of the Intangible Assets, details of which are as follows:

(a)  Contract terms of the service agreement
The term of the Service Agreement was one year and it shall be
deemed to be extended for one year automatically subject to no
limitation. Further, no cost would be incurred for the renewal of the
Service Agreement. The Board also considered that the termination
events as stipulated under the Service Agreement were remote and

would not occur in the foreseeable future.

(b)  Characteristics of the Intangible Assets
. The WeChat Payment Services do not have limited number
of usage and is able to be used substantially by all retails

merchants in Hong Kong.

. After comparing the WeChat Payment Services with other
service providers of similar nature such as PayPal, Alipay
and Apple Pay, the Board and the management of the Group
considered that the market trend of electronic payment is
growing and accordingly, it has a long life cycle and there is no

limitation on the product life cycle.

. The WeChat Payment Services have high stability and
potential as market shares for mobile payment and retail

merchant sector in Hong Kong is growing.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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. Mobile payment is mature and had been fully developed.
. The maintenance of the WeChat Payment Services cost is
minimal.

The particulars of intangible assets and details of goodwill valuation method,
key assumptions and the value of inputs used in the valuation are set out in notes
17 and 18 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report

respectively.

FINANCIAL POSITION AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 March 2019, cash and bank balances of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$65.5 million (2018: HK$158.9 million) and the current ratio
(current assets divided by current liabilities) of the Group was 0.5 times as at
31 March 2019 (2018: 2.1 times). The Group’s gearing ratio, representing total
borrowings divided by total equity, was approximately 158.4% as at 31 March
2019 (2018: 207.1%). The decrease in gearing ratio was primarily due to increase
in equity as a result of the increase in convertible bonds reserve and share option
reserve during the year ended 31 March 2019. In view of the Group’s current level
of cash and bank balances, funds generated internally from operations and the
unutilised banking facilities available, the Board is confident that the Group will
have sufficient resources to meet its financial needs for its operations. As at 31
March 2019, the Group had unutilised general banking facilities of approximately
HK$4.2 million (2018: HK$6.2 million). On 12 October 2017, the Group
completed the issue of the convertible bonds in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$265.0 million (the “2017 Convertible Bonds™). On 13 February 2019, the
Group completed the placing of the convertible bonds in the aggregate principal
amount of HK$106.0 million (the “2019 Convertible Bonds™). Approximately
HK$90.0 million out of the net proceeds amount of HK$103.2 million from the
issue of the 2019 Convertible Bonds was used in the purchase of the same principal
amount of the 2017 Convertible Bonds and approximately HK$13.2 million was
used as the Company’s general working capital. Meanwhile, the purchase of
the 2017 Convertible Bonds was completed on 21 February 2019 and the 2017
Convertible Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of HK$90.0 million were
cancelled in accordance with the terms and conditions thereof and the outstanding
principal amount of the 2017 Convertible Bonds has been reduced from HK$255.0
million to HK$165.0 million. Please refer to the announcements dated 22
January 2019, 13 February 2019 and 22 February 2019 and note 28 to the audited

consolidated financial statements in this annual report for details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives in managing capital are to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return
to the shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The
management reviews the capital structure by considering the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital. In view of this, the Group will balance
its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues as
well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt as it sees fit and
appropriate. The Group also monitors capital on the basis of the net gearing ratio.

The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged throughout the period of review.

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had 309 employees (2018: 260). For the
year ended 31 March 2019, staff costs including directors’ remuneration was
approximately HK$183.5 million (2018: HK$116.4 million).

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group’s Directors and senior management receive compensation in the form
of salaries, benefits in kind and discretionary bonuses with reference to salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and the performance of the
Group. The Group also reimburses them for expenses, which are necessarily and
reasonably incurred for the provision of services to the Group or executing their
functions in relation to the operation of the Group. In addition, the Company
adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to Directors and eligible participants,
the particulars of which are set out in note 40 to the audited consolidated financial
statements in this annual report. The Group regularly reviews and determines
the remuneration and compensation package of the Group’s Directors and senior
management, by reference to, among other things, market level of salaries paid by
comparable companies, the respective responsibilities of the Group’s Directors and

the performance of the Group.

OUTLOOK

Health and beauty supplements and products segment

The proactive measures taken by the Group to recruit new generation customers
and increase the market share in today’s digital world show promising results
after the Group allocated more resources on digital marketing. The increase in the
combination of online live programs and offline events during the first half of the
year ended 31 March 2019 enhanced customer loyalty and product awareness of

both the existing and new product portfolios of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o PR W i B T

The quality management accreditation for the existing food factory including
1SO22000 and HACCP obtained in March 2018 earmarked the sustainable
commitment of the Group to uphold highest quality.

With the aim to expand the Group’s distribution channels and grow its main
business in health and beauty supplements and products, the Group completed the

acquisition of H365 Group in December 2018.

Collaboration with CUCAMed Company Limited

The laboratory collaborated with CUCAMed Company Limited (“CUCAMed”) in
Hong Kong to research and develop new Chinese medicines and health products
has commenced operation in September 2017. During the year ended 31 March
2019, no new product under the “LEGEND” brand was launched. A new product
that was originally planned to be launched in early 2018 was rescheduled to late
2019.

Online advertising agency segment
In addition to the routine content and advertising model, Tenfok Asia has
successfully launched a brand campaign in 2018 with very positive market

responses and sustainable income was generated from 2019 onwards.

Leveraging on the track record of event and content penetration on the largest
online media platform (Hong Kong Station of gd.qq.com), Tenfok Asia has been
collaborating with a number of business associations to launch several brand
campaigns under the name of Hong Kong Station of gd.qq.com in the Greater
Bay Area during the coming two years. Tenfok Asia has been media partner of
the major events and campaigns co-organised with the Federation of Hong Kong
Brands (% it i 44 75 ), Greater Bay Area Medical and Health Society (K
[ 58 0 £ B 7€ 3 15 @), Hong Kong Biotechnology Organisation (i its 4= 4t
1% &), Asia Art of Cuisine Society (Hi P k6 2% &) and other business
associations from different industries. Over 3,000 corporates in Hong Kong and
the Greater Bay Area have been registered as the members of these associations
and their affiliated counterparties. The terms of collaboration contracts signed with
different associations normally exceed 2 years so as to generate more revenue and
build up long term business relationships. We believe the new partnership with
business associations and trade fair organisers will bring in more revenue and

quality clientele.

Utilising the State policy of promoting Greater Bay Area as the nation’s hub for
technology, brands and financing, we believe our online advertising and media
platform can be well positioned to enhance our clients to benefit from building
international brands and increasing cross-border businesses. Our management is

very positive on the revenue stream from the segment in the coming two years.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Online payment business segment

Under the current China-US trade war, retail market and cross-border payment
activities are under uncertainties. Besides, the growth of mobile payment among
the PRC and Hong Kong local population was slower than expected. The reason
was attributable to decrease in retail transactions in Hong Kong by Mainland
visitors and intensified competition. From the date of our acquisition of N
Dimension till now, the number of market players authorized by WeChat Pay has
increased by several folds within 2 years. This has resulted in cut throat price war
in the same market segments. The market rate for merchants has been decreasing.
However, our marketing strategy and business partners relationship still enhance
our market position and growth. The Group endeavors to continue growing this
new business by way of expanding its sales efforts, collaborating with other market

players that complement the Group’s direction of development.

The Group is still confident in the prospect of WeChat cross-border payment
business in Hong Kong. Recently, we are working closely with WeChat to offer
special incentive programmes to our merchant clientele in Hong Kong. Moreover,
N Dimension has started to conduct joint marketing effort to integrate our intra-
Group subsidiaries business resources. Our internal synergy has shown promising
results. Capitalising on the brand awareness, we will be able to enhance our

competitiveness.

At the same time, we actively developed the extended online payment services
and launched mini programmes to connect our users with numerous online and
offline services, which include retail, e-commerce, lifestyle services, livelihood
and games. The objective is to encourage users to share and connect with others
in daily life, promote interaction with partners within the ecosystem, and develop
innovative “Payment Plus” products to better extend business models and increase

revenue.

Game distribution segment

Game distribution platforms (including online and offline) shall continue to grow
as the Company has built up strong pipelines for upcoming game titles. For the
online e-commerce business, it is foreseen that the sales of game card business shall
continue to expand due to the established relationship with local Chinese merchants
and the wider variety of products such as gaming consoles and E-sports peripherals
is forecasted to be one of the major growths in the gaming market. The marketing
consultancy sector shall see steady growth due to the increase in the number of
game releases and the increase in marketing events and activities driven from
E-sports. The management is confident this business segment in the coming second
half of the year ending 31 March 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o PR W i B T

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in notes 35, 36 and 37 to the audited consolidated financial
statements in this annual report, there was no other material acquisition and
disposal of subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures during the year
ended 31 March 2019.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in note 27 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this
annual report, the Group did not have material contingent liabilities as at 31 March
2019.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

Save as disclosed in note 38 to the audited consolidated financial statements in
this annual report, the Group did not have significant capital commitment as at 31
March 2019.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Presently, the Group does not have a hedging policy with respect to the foreign
exchange exposure. The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales
and purchases, which give rise to receivables and payables and cash balances that
are denominated in foreign currencies, other than the functional currency of the
operations to which the transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk
are primarily United States dollars (“US$”) and Renminbi (“RMB”). In order to
manage and minimise the foreign currency risk, the management will continue to
manage and monitor the foreign currency exposure to ensure appropriate measure

are implemented in a timely and effective manner.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had secured bank loans of approximately HK$39.1
million (2018: HK$28.1 million). The banking facilities are secured by the Group’s
leasehold land and buildings, having carrying amount of approximately HK$77.2
million as at 31 March 2019 (2018: HK$41.8 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM ISSUE OF
CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Convertible Bonds

On 12 October 2017, the Group completed the issue of the convertible bonds in the
aggregate principal amount of HK$265.0 million (the “2017 Convertible Bonds”).
On 13 February 2019, the Group completed the placing of the convertible bonds
in the aggregate principal amount of HK$106.0 million (the “2019 Convertible
Bonds”). Approximately HK$90.0 million out of the net proceeds of HK$103.2
million from the issue of the 2019 Convertible Bonds was used in the purchase
of the same principal amount of the 2017 Convertible Bonds and approximately
HK$13.2 million was used as the Company’s general working capital. Meanwhile,
the purchase of the 2017 Convertible Bonds was completed on 21 February 2019
and the 2017 Convertible Bonds in the principal amount of HK$90.0 million were
cancelled in accordance with the terms and conditions thereof and the outstanding
principal amount of the 2017 Convertible Bonds has been reduced from HK$255.0
million to HK$165.0 million. Please refer to the announcements dated 22
January 2019, 13 February 2019 and 22 February 2019 and note 28 to the audited

consolidated financial statements in this annual report for details.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Save as the events as disclosed in note 45 to the audited consolidated financial
statements in this annual report, there is no significant event occurring after the

year ended 31 March 2019 up to the date of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Based on the Group’s risk management system, the Group has examined all of the
possible risks and uncertainties that might affect the Group and considered that the

most important risks and uncertainties would include:

Regulatory risks

The health supplement industry in Hong Kong generally believes that changes in
regulatory policies and laws in respect of the monitoring and control of food and
health supplement products which include Chinese medicinal ingredients may
be proposed and implemented by the authorities concerned in the coming years.
Significant effect may impact on the future development of health supplements
as well as the food industry. If the Group fails to keep up and comply with these

changes, such factors would affect the Group’s success.

The Group has closely monitored the regulatory changes, strengthened its
interpretation and analysis capability of regulatory policies and would adjust

strategies in advance to cope with the ever-changing operating environment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o PR W i B T

Prolonged economic downturn

The Group’s health and beauty supplements and products business is closely
related to the economic conditions of Hong Kong. Slowing economic growth or a
recession may affect consumer preferences and spending which in turn could have
a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, operational results and financial

conditions.

In response to these challenges, the Group will closely monitor the changing
economic conditions and also actively implement effective measures to control the
administration and production costs. The Group will also continue to roll out more
new products and open up more distribution channels, and diversify its business to

improve the Group’s overall performance.

Failure to introduce successful new products

Owing to the rapid changing nature of the health and beauty supplements and
products markets in Hong Kong, if the Group fails to anticipate market trends
and develop new products to respond to such trends in a timely manner, it will
adversely affect its business in the long term. In addition to the Group’s own
product development and collaboration with external research partners, such as
with CUCAMed to promote and sell products developed by CUCAMed under
the brand “LEGEND”, the Group is also actively looking for opportunities to
collaborate with different reputable universities to conduct researches for the
purpose of developing new products. Besides researches, the Group will also
continue to place strong emphasis on a multifaceted market strategy through

utilizing various media and channels to promote its brands and products.

Macro-economic condition, PRC tourist spending and payment
habits

The health of the Group’s WeChat cross-border payment business relies
significantly on the number of PRC tourists visiting Hong Kong and their ensuing
spending habit using WeChat Pay as the payment gateway. Should there be any
adverse change in macro-economic condition, the number of PRC tourists visiting
Hong Kong or their spending or a change in habit using WeChat Pay, the Group’s
business may be adversely affected. In addition, regulatory or other changes in
the PRC such as a major outbreak of disease that affects the number of inbound
PRC tourists to Hong Kong will have similar adverse impact. However, the Group
believes that this online payment business is still at a start-up stage with growth

potential so the Group will closely monitor the development in this business sector.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Competition

At present, there are various WeChat Pay service providers and agents operating
in Hong Kong. With number of available merchant shops in Hong Kong being a
relatively stable figure, there is intense competition among these service providers
and agents. Should these service providers and agents actively engage in price
competition, the Group may be forced to follow suit so that its business, operational
results and financial conditions may accordingly be adversely affected. However,
the Group believes that this online payment business is still at a start-up stage with
growth potential so the Group will closely monitor the development in this business

sector.

Operational risk

The Group’s online payment business is heavily dependent on the stable
operation of its IT systems including system software, processing systems,
telecommunications networks, cloud servers as well as systems provided by third
parties. Such mission critical services are susceptible to risks attributable to system
outage, data loss or breach in security. Should such a situation occur, payments
made to the merchant shops may not be properly processed and may expose the
Group to liability to third parties. The Group will closely monitor such risks, and
periodically consider and implement measures such as system/software updates,

redundancy, and subcontracting to suitable and competent third party vendors.

Industry and technological changes

The Group’s online advertising agency and online payment businesses are
characterised by rapid technological changes, frequent and numerous product
introductions and enhancements, continually evolving industry security standards
and rapidly changing customers’ requirements. The success of the Group in these
business segments depends on a large extent upon the Group’s continued ability to
offer its online advertising agency and payment businesses within this environment
and to meet changing market requirements, including conformity with applicable

standards.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
o i AR L i R A

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney, aged 55, is an executive Director, compliance officer
and authorised representative of the Company. He joined the Group since July 2014
acting as a director of a subsidiary of the Group and was appointed as an executive
Director and the compliance officer of the Company on 20 January 2016. On 1
April 2019, he was appointed as an authorised representative of the Company. Mr.
Lee has been primarily responsible for overseeing the corporate strategy and legal
matters of the Group. Mr. Lee was employed by the Group from 1 March 2013 to
1 November 2013, responsible for business development. Mr. Lee was a director
of Wisdom Come Medical Group Limited (“Wisdom Come”), a subsidiary of
the Company from 2010 to 2012. Mr. Lee was also a subscriber and nominee
shareholder of Wisdom Come and subscriber of Hong Kong and Macau Chinese
Medicine Innovative Institute Co., Ltd. (formerly named “M2C Natural Health
Limited”), another subsidiary of the Group, and transferred his shares in these
two companies to the Group on 1 November 2005 and 19 May 2006, respectively.
Mr. Lee has been a solicitor in practice in Hong Kong since August 2000. Mr.
Lee graduated from the Chinese University of Hong Kong with a bachelor degree
in business administration in 1986, and later also graduated from the Manchester
Metropolitan University in the United Kingdom with a bachelor degree in laws in
1999. After obtaining the Postgraduate Certificate in Laws issued by the University
of Hong Kong, he was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong in August 2000. Before
practising as a solicitor, Mr. Lee was employed with senior management positions
in various retail enterprises in Hong Kong. From 1995 till 1997, he was employed
as a director and deputy general manager of Chinese Arts & Crafts (H.K.) Limited,
a retail group of companies in Hong Kong. He is currently the sole proprietor of
Sidney Lee & Co., Solicitors, a law firm established in Hong Kong since July 2008,
which provided legal services to the Group till 19 January 2016. Mr. Lee has been
an elected member of the Central and Western District Council since 2006 with
his current term of office ending on 31 December 2019. Mr. Lee has also been
providing voluntary services to the public on an ongoing basis and was appointed

by the government as a member of various advisory boards.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wang Xihua, aged 52, is an executive Director. He joined the Group on 24
October 2016. Since 1 April 2019, the duties of the chairman of the Board and
the chief executive officer of the company have been temporarily undertaken
by Mr. Wang. Mr. Wang has over 20 years of commercial experience in
business development and enterprise management in the People’s Republic of
China (“PRC”) and 5 years of teaching experience in the chemical engineering
profession. Mr. Wang graduated from the Faculty of Chemical Engineering at &
4 £ Z2 B (Wuhan Institute of Iron and Steel, currently called Wuhan University
of Science and Technology) in 1989. In addition, Mr. Wang completed a graduate
program in business administration from the Guanghua School of Management
of Peking University in 2003. Mr. Wang is primarily responsible for exploring
investment opportunities to expand the business of the Group. Mr. Wang was an
executive director and non-executive director of Elife Holdings Limited (“Elife
Holdings”) (Stock Code: 223), the shares of which are listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange, from 11 March 2013 to 31 January 2014 and 1 February 2014
to 22 September 2015 respectively. Mr. Wang is currently the managing director
of SRG Capital Limited, a company of which Elife Holdings holds less than
10% equity interest. Mr. Wang was an executive director of Fortis Mining (Hong
Kong) Limited from 1 February 2014 to 23 May 2015, a Hong Kong subsidiary
of Kazakhstan Potash Corporation Limited, a company listed in the Australian
Securities Exchange Limited (ASX code: KPC).

Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William, aged 46, is an executive Director. He joined the
Company on 1 July 2017. He has solid commercial experience in international
and China business development and merger and acquisition before joining the
Company. Mr. Lai has a certificate in google android application development
awarded by Unisoft Education Centre in 2011. Mr. Lai is primarily responsible for
the online advertising agency business, e-commerce promotion business and game

distribution business of the Group.
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AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia, aged 56, is an independent non-executive Director,
a member of audit committee, nomination committee and remuneration committee
of the Company. She joined the Company on 15 April 2016. Ms. Szeto is a solicitor
in Hong Kong and a solicitor of the Supreme Court of England and Wales. Ms.
Szeto holds a Bachelor of Laws Degree from Oxford Brookes University and a
Master of Science Degree in Criminal Justice Policy from The London School of
Economics and Political Science. She is currently an independent non-executive
director of Shaw Brothers Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 0953), Ms. Szeto was
the chairman, non-executive director and member of audit committee of Larry
Jewelry International Company Limited (Stock Code: 8351) from 3 October 2016
to 12 January 2018, and was an executive director of Ming Lam Holdings Limited
(formerly known as Sino Haijing Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 1106) from 19
March 2015 to 4 July 2016. The shares of all three companies are listed on the Main
Board or the GEM of the Stock Exchange. Ms. Szeto was also the Head of Legal
Department of New World Development Company Limited (Stock Code: 0017)
from 20 March 1998 to 31 July 2002.

Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau, aged 33, is an independent non-executive
Director, the chairman of audit committee, a member of nomination committee
and remuneration committee of the Company. He joined the Company on 24
October 2016 and was appointed as the chairman of audit committee of the
Company on 6 December 2016. Mr. Leung is currently a Director of Global
Business Development at TMF Group, a leading global services provider of
high-value business services to clients operating and investing globally. Before
joining TMF Group, he served as the financial controller of an international
investment management company focusing on the market of the Greater China.
Mr. Leung has worked for different international audit firms including KPMG and
PricewaterhouseCoopers over the past eight years from October 2008. Mr. Leung
obtained a Bachelor of Commerce (Accounting and Finance) degree from Monash
University in Australia in 2008 and has been a member of the CPA Australia since
2011.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tam Kin Yip, aged 45, is an independent non-executive Director, the
chairman of nomination committee and remuneration committee and a member
of audit committee of the Company. He joined the Company on 7 March 2017.
Mr. Tam is a practicing Barrister-At-Law in Hong Kong and has over 16 years’
experience in litigation. From 3 March 2015 to 1 March 2016, Mr. Tam served as
an independent non-executive director of Zhuoxin International Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 8266) whose shares are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Leung Man Loon, aged 41, is an independent non-executive Director, a
member of audit committee, nomination committee and remuneration committee
of the Company. He joined the Company on 11 September 2017. He is currently
working in BOC Group Life Assurance Company Limited. Mr. Leung has
extensive experience focusing in life insurance and banking industries. Mr. Leung
obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts in Finance Services from Edinburgh Napier
University in the United Kingdom. Mr. Leung has been a Certified Financial
PlannerCM (CFPCM) since 2010 and designated a Fellow, Life Management
Institute from Life Office Management Association in the United States since
2006.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chan Yan Tak, aged 50, is the honorary chairman of the Company as
well as a director of most subsidiaries of the health and beauty supplements and
products segment of the Group. Mr. Chan joined the Group in 2003. He was the
chairman of the Board, an executive director and the chief executive officer of
the Company from 5 December 2011 to 31 March 2019. On 1 April 2019, he was
honoured with the title of “Honorary Chairman” of the Company. Mr. Chan is
currently responsible for the overall management and strategic development of
the health and beauty supplements and products segment of the Group. Mr. Chan
possesses over 15 years of experience in the health food and pharmaceutical trading
businesses with extensive experience in product development, materials sourcing,
branding-building, advertising, marketing and retail networking. Mr. Chan has
acted as the honorary president of the Federation of Beauty Industry (H.K.). He
has been a member of the Association of Hong Kong and Kowloon Practitioners
of Chinese Medicine Limited since 2004 and was then appointed as the advisor of
the abovementioned association in 2008. Mr. Chan was a director of Yan Oi Tong,
from 1 April 2018 to 1 April 2019, and a founding member and executive director
of Affectionate World Charitable Foundation Limited (A A5 1% 28 3% 3£ & 45 FR 2>
) since May 2017, both are registered non-profit making charitable organization.
Mr. Chan is currently a director of and holds entirely interests in Able Island Group
Limited (“Able Island”), the controlling shareholder of the Company, the details of
which are disclosed in the Report of the Directors under this report.
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AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Mr. Cheng Tze Kit Larry, aged 63, is the chief investment officer of the Group.
Mr. Cheng joined the Group in March 2018. Mr. Cheng has over 27 years of
experience in real estate development and financial mergers and acquisitions
in Hong Kong, Canada and the PRC. He holds a Bachelor of Science (Hons) in
Engineering and a Master of Business Administration. Mr. Cheng is a Chartered
Engineer of United Kingdom. Mr. Cheng served as an executive director, non-
executive director and chief investment officer of several Hong Kong listed

companies.

Mr. Chen Man Lung, aged 53, is the chief financial officer of the Group. Mr.
Chen joined the Group since April 2018. On 25 January 2019, he was appointed as
the chief financial officer and he is responsible for overall financial management,
tax and treasury functions of the Group. Mr. Chen has 25 years of finance and
investment related work experience. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chen held
senior management positions such as executive director, independent non-
executive director, chief operation officer and chief financial officer of several
Hong Kong and overseas listed companies in various industries. He holds a
Bachelor of Arts in Sociology and a Master of Arts in Chinese Studies from The
Hong Kong Baptist University and The Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology, respectively.

Mr. Wong Kui Tong, aged 38, is the company secretary and authorised
representative of the Company. Mr. Wong joined the Company in December
2016. Mr. Wong has over 16 years of experience in accounting and financial
management. Mr. Wong is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and The Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Wong held
the positions of finance manager and company secretary in China Lumena New
Materials Corp. (Stock Code: 67) from 2009 and 2010 to 2016 respectively and
worked in PricewaterhouseCoopers from 2004 to 2009. Mr. Wong obtained a
bachelor of arts in accountancy degree and a master of corporate governance degree

from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yan Tat Ming, aged 55, is the chief production officer of the health and
beauty supplements and products segment of the Group. Mr. Yan joined the
Group in January 2012. He is primarily responsible for the production and quality
assurance functions of the health and beauty supplements and products segment
of the Group. Mr. Yan has more than 17 years of experience in the pharmaceutical
industry. He is experienced in the areas of production and quality assurance and
familiar with production with GMP standard. Mr. Yan obtained his bachelor’s
degree in pharmacy from Robert Gordon Institute of Technology, Aberdeen,
United Kingdom in 1991. He is registered as a pharmaceutical chemist and is a
member of the Royal Pharmaceutical Society of Great Britain since 1992. He is
also admitted as a pharmacist under the Pharmacy and Poisons Ordinance (Chapter
138 of the Laws of Hong Kong) in 1992. Mr. Yan was elected as the committee
member and deputy secretary-general of the Hong Kong Chinese Prepared

Medicine Traders Association in 2004 and 2006, respectively.

Ms. Wong Chui Lan, aged 47, is the general manager of the health and beauty
supplements and products segment of the Group. Ms. Wong is responsible for sales
department including the supervision of the sales promoter team of the health and
beauty supplements and products segment and also acts as the person-in-charge of
the customer services and member club functions. She joined the Group in 2004 as
a senior manager and was subsequently promoted to the deputy general manager in
2010, sales controller in 2011 and general manager in 2016. Ms. Wong possesses
more than 13 years of working experience in the retail marketing specialising in
selling and distribution of PCM health supplements and beauty supplements and

products.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney, aged 55, is the compliance officer of the Company.

Please refer to the paragraph headed “Executive Directors” in this section for his

further details.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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The Directors present the report and the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended
31 March 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the formulating, marketing, sale and
distribution of health and beauty supplements and products in Hong Kong and the
PRC, provision of online advertising agency business, online payment business,
e-commerce promotion business and game distribution business. There was no
significant change in nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year
ended 31 March 2019.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A fair review of the business of the Company and a discussion and analysis of
the Group’s performance during the year ended 31 March 2019 as required by the
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), including a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
the Group and indication of likely future development of the Group’s business,
the material factors underlying its results and financial position, are provided
in the “Chairman’s Statement” from pages 6 to 7 and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” from pages 8 to 25, particulars of important events affecting the
Company that have occurred since the end of the financial year ended 31 March
2019, if any, can also be found in the abovementioned sections and the “Notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements”, the outlook of the Company’s business
is discussed throughout this Annual Report including the “Chairman’s Statement”
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this Annual Report, all these

sections form part of this report of the Directors.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2019 are set out in

note 42 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the results and the state of affairs of the Group
are set out in the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report on
pages 79 to 275.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended
31 March 2019 (2018: Nil) in accordance with the dividend policy of the Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the Entitlement of the Attendance of 2019 AGM

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Wednesday, 14
August 2019 to Monday, 19 August 2019 (both dates inclusive), for the purpose of
determining the eligibility of shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
to attend and vote at the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on
Monday, 19 August 2019 (the “2019 AGM”), during which no transfer of shares
of the Company will be effected. In order to qualify for attendance at the 2019
AGM, all completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
of the Company must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong (which will be changed to Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong with effect from 11 July 2019), not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Tuesday, 13 August 2019.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the past 5
financial years is set out on page 276 of this annual report. This summary does
not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group in this

annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment and investment
properties of the Group during the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in notes
15 and 16 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report,

respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year ended
31 March 2019 are set out in note 33(b) to the audited consolidated financial

statements in this annual report.

Particulars of share options of the Company (the “Share Option(s)”) and details of
movements in the Share Options during the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out

in note 40 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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CONVERTIBLE BONDS

2017 Convertible Bonds

The Company placed the convertible bonds in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$265 million (the “2017 Convertible Bonds™) on 12 October 2017 pursuant
to the placing agreement dated 24 April 2017 and all supplemental placing
agreements (the “2017 Placing”) by the placing agents to six placees, being third
parties independent of the Company and its connected persons, whereby (i) on or
before 11 October 2018, 2017 Convertible Bonds were convertible into 56,989,247
conversion shares at the conversion price of HK$4.65, (ii) after 11 October 2018,
the 2017 Convertible Bonds are convertible into 66,250,000 conversion shares at
the conversion price of HK$4.00. On 22 March 2018, 8,602,150 conversion shares
were converted into 8,602,150 new Shares in total under the 2017 Convertible
Bonds with a principal amount of HK$10 million at a price of HK$1.1625
(adjusted). In February 2019, the Company applied approximately HK$90 million
of the net proceeds of the 2019 Placing (as defined below) in the purchase of a
principal amount of HK$90 million of the 2017 Convertible Bonds which were
then cancelled by the Company (the “Purchase of 2017 Convertible Bonds”). The
outstanding principal amount of 2017 Convertible Bonds was then reduced from
HK$255 million to HK$165 million on 21 February 2019.

As at 31 March 2019 and up to the date of this report, the outstanding principal
amount of the 2017 Convertible Bonds was HK$165 million which are convertible
into 165,000,000 conversion shares at the conversion price of HK$1.00 (adjusted),
the 2017 Convertible Bonds will be due in October 2019.

The net proceeds from the 2017 Placing are approximately HK$250 million and
all was used by the Group in any potential acquisitions by the Company relating
to (i) its principal business or (ii) any online and e-commerce technology business
including but not limited to the acquisition under the acquisition agreement
dated 30 June 2017 in relation to the WeChat cross-border payment business
and (iii) for general working capital of the Company. The net price for the 2017
Placing is approximately HK$4.36. The details of 2017 Placing are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 24 April 2017, 9 May 2017, 31 May 2017,
30 June 2017, 31 July 2017, 22 September 2017, 25 September 2017, 12 October
2017, 4 December 2017, 22 January 2019, 13 February 2019, and 22 February 2019
and note 28 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report,

respectively.
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2019 Convertible Bonds

The Company placed the 5% unsecured redeemable convertible bonds in the
aggregate principal amount of HK$106 million (the “2019 Convertible Bonds”)
on 13 February 2019 pursuant to the placing agreement dated 22 January 2019
(the “2019 Placing”) by the placing agents to six placees, being independent third
parties which are not connected with the Company and its connected persons,
whereby the 2019 Convertible Bonds are convertible into 365,517,237 convertible
shares at the conversion price of HK$0.29. As at 31 March 2019 and up to the date
of this report, no new Share was issued under the 2019 Convertible Bonds which
will be due in February 2021.

The net proceeds from the 2019 Placing are approximately HK$90 million and was
applied in redeeming the 2017 Convertible Bonds and approximately HK$13.2
million was applied towards the Company’s general working capital as disclosed in
the announcements of the Company dated 13 February 2019 and 22 February 2019
respectively. The net price for 2019 Placing is approximately HK$0.28. The details
of the 2019 Placing are set out in the announcements of the Company dated 22
January 2019, 13 February 2019 and 22 February 2019 and note 28 to the audited
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, redeemed or sold
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018:
Nil).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association (the “Articles and Association”) and the Companies Law (2016
Revision) of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

No equity-linked agreement was entered into during the year ended 31 March
2019, save for the convertible bonds as detailed in the paragraph “CONVERTIBLE
BONDS” disclosed above and the Share Options (as defined below) as detailed in
the section of “SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS” and others, if any,
disclosed in this annual report.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in the audited consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 83 and note 33(a) to the audited consolidated financial
statements in this annual report, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2019, the Company’s reserves available for distribution to the
Shareholders, calculated in accordance with the provisions of Cayman Islands’
legislation, amounted to approximately HK$139.7 million (2018: HK$101.4

million).

PARTICULARS OF BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2019 are set

out in note 26 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2019 and up to the date of this

annual report were:

Current Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney

Mr. Wang Xihua* (appointed as acting chairman and
chief executive officer on 1 April 2019)

Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William

Independent Non-executive Directors
Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia

Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau

Mr. Tam Kin Yip

Mr. Leung Man Loon

Former Directors
Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yan Tak* (resigned as chairman and
chief executive officer and appointed as honorary chairman on 1 April 2019)
Mr. Wong Ping Yiu (resigned on 4 May 2018)
Mr. Liao Zhe (resigned on 4 October 2018)

b Mr. Chan Yan Tak resigned as chairman of the Board, an executive Director and the chief
executive officer of the Company took effect from 1 April 2019. Mr. Wang Xihua has
temporarily undertaken the duties of the chairman of the Board and the chief executive
officer of the Company since 1 April 2019.

The biographical details of the current Directors are set out on pages 26 to 31 of this

annual report.
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CHANGES OF BOARD COMPOSITION

Mr. Chan Yan Tak (“Mr. Chan®) resigned as chairman of the Board, an executive
Director, the chief executive officer and an authorised representative of the
Company with effect from 1 April 2019 in order to focus on his family matters
following the passing away of his spouse. Mr. Chan has remained as a director of
certain subsidiaries of the health and beauty supplements and products segment of
the Group. In recognition of Mr. Chan’s invaluable contribution and devotion to the
Group during his tenure of service, the Board honored Mr. Chan with the title of

“Honorary Chairman” of the Company with effect from 1 April 2019.

The Company is still in the course of identifying a suitable candidate with
appropriate experience to fill the vacancy left by the resignation of Mr. Chan as the
chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company. The duties
of the chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company have
temporarily been undertaken by Mr. Wang Xihua, an executive Director since 1
April 2019.

Mr. Wong Ping Yiu resigned as an executive Director with effect from 4 May 2018

due to new working arrangement in the Group.

Mr. Liao Zhe resigned as an executive Director with effect from 4 October 2018

due to new working arrangement in the Group.

DIRECTORS’ ROTATION

Messrs. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney and Lai Wei Lam, William, being executive
Directors who have been the longest in the Board since their last re-elections in the
annual general meeting of the Company, and Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau, being
an independent non-executive Director, will retire by rotation from the Board at
the conclusion of the 2019 AGM and then, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election as Directors by the Shareholders in the 2019 AGM in accordance with the

Articles of Association and the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS

The Company entered into service agreements with each of the executive Director
and independent non-executive Directors for a term of three years. Their term of
offices are also subject to retirement by rotation from the Board and re-election
at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Articles of

Association and the Listing Rules.

No Director being proposed for re-election at the 2019 AGM has a service contract
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year

without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company received written confirmations of independence from all four
independent non-executive Directors, Ms. Szeto Wing Ling, Virginia, Mr. Leung
Winson Kwan Yau, Mr. Tam Kin Yip and Mr. Leung Man Loon respectively
for the year ended 31 March 2019 pursuant to the Listing Rules. The Board and
the nomination committee of the Company considered and agreed all the current
independent non-executive Directors to be independent pursuant to Rule 3.13 of

the Listing Rules, which has been revised during the year ended 31 March 2019.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Directors shall be indemnified against
all losses and liabilities which they may incur in connection with their duties.
The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance

coverage for the directors and officers of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
REMUNERATION AND FIVE INDIVIDUALS
WITH THE HIGHEST EMOLUMENT

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five individuals with the highest
emoluments disclosed on a named basis and/or by band respectively, are set out in
notes 9 to 10 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report,

respectively.
Details of the remuneration of the senior management disclosed by band are set out

under paragraph headed “Remuneration Committee” under section headed “Board

Committees” in Corporate Governance Report in this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2019, the interests of the Directors in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) which (i) are required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO); (ii) were recorded in the register required
to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO; or (iii) were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in

Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions in the shares of the Company
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Mr. Chan Yan Tak (“Mr. Chan”)! B IR S A (B SeA: ) 733,568,000 733,568,000 34.55%
Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney FHEERE 1,000,000 17,000,000 18,000,000 0.85%
Mr. Wang Xihua ErERE 12,000,000 12,000,000 0.57%
Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William TR sEE 12,000,000 12,000,000 0.57%
Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia AfEES Lt 2,500,000 2,500,000 0.12%
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau BN 2,500,000 2,500,000 0.12%
Mr. Tam Kin Yip HRELE 2,500,000 2,500,000 0.12%
Mr. Leung Man Loon BIHERE 2,500,000 2,500,000 0.12%

Notes: B zE
1. This represents the shares of the Company held by Able Island Group Limited (“Able 1. & H1 Able Island Group Limited ([ Able Island ) £547

Island”), a company wholly-owned by Mr. Chan, therefore, he is deemed to be interested in
733,568,000 shares of the Company held by Able Island under the SFO. Mr. Chan resigned
as chairman of the Board, an executive Director, the chief executive officer and an authorised
representative of the Company with effect from 1 April 2019.

2. This represents interests in Share Options held by the relevant Directors as a beneficial owner
to subscribe for the relevant underlying shares granted by the Company under the Share
Option Scheme, details of which are set out in to the section under “SHARE OPTIONS”
below in this annual report.

e The percentage has been adjusted, if any, based on the total number of shares of the Company
in issue as at 31 March 2019 (i.e. 2,123,002,150 shares).
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Save as disclosed above and the interests as disclosed under the section headed
“DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND DEBENTURES” below,
as at 31 March 2019, none of the Directors or the chief executive of the Company
had any interest or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which (i) are required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO); or (ii) were recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
352 of the SFO; or (iii) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2019, the number of outstanding Share Options granted by the
Company under the share option scheme adopted on 24 September 2013 (the
“Share Option Scheme”) for the Directors to subscribe for the shares of the
Company, as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code is set out in the sections headed “SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE
OPTIONS” and in the note 40 to the audited consolidated financial statements in
this annual report.

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the year ended 31 March 2019
was the Company, its subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding companies
a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors, their spouse and children
under the age of 18, to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code, amended from time to time. All the
Directors have confirmed they have complied with the required standards set out
in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2019. Employees of the
Company, who are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside information,
have been requested to comply with provisions of the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 39 to the audited consolidated financial statements in
this annual report and under the section headed “CONNECTED TRANSACTION
AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS?”, if any, in this report, no Director
or any entities connected with the Director had a material interest, either directly
or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contract of significance to the
business of the Group to which the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, its fellow
subsidiaries or its holding companies was a party during the year ended 31 March
2019.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

As at 31 March 2019, according to the register of interests kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO, the interest of the persons, other than the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company, in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and entered in the register maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the
Company were as follows:

Long positions in the shares of the Company
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Approximate
percentage of interest
Number of in the Company’s
Names of shareholder Capacity Nature of interest Shares Total issued share capital*
AR A ]
CEATIRA
LA B 23
Bk 4 L 35 1 T Bt H it ke
Able Island' Beneficial owner Ordinary Shares 733,568,000 733,568,000 34.55%
A A e i
Leung Lisa? Interested of controlled Ordinary Shares 128,408,000 128,408,000 6.05%
corporation
TR R ERE A e i
Prosper Rich Investments Beneficial owner Ordinary Shares 128,408,000 128,408,000 6.05%
Limited? FAHA A eyl
Altair Asia Investments Beneficial owner Ordinary Shares 12,624,000*
Limited? FAHA A eyl
Convertible instruments? 98,924,7324 111,548,732 5.25%
AR T HS
Ardon Maroon Fund Interested of controlled Ordinary Shares 12,624,000*
Management Limited? corporation 98 A%
SZE i E AR Convertible instruments?® 98,924,732* 111,548,732 5.25%
AR T HS
Notes: Fff&E -
1. The entire issued share capital of Able Island is wholly-owned by Mr. Chan. 1. Able Island ¥ 270 C 3847 A th B S B 2 B HEAT -
2. Information was obtained from the website of the Stock Exchange 2. OB OE R T OW OB OB B o W

(http://www.hkexnews.hk/di/di.htm).

3. The convertible instruments referred to the convertible bonds issued by the Company on 12
October 2017, the aggregate principal amount of HK$90 million of that convertible bonds
purchased by the Company have been cancelled in accordance with the terms and conditions
of that convertible bonds and the outstanding aggregate principal amount of that convertible
bonds has been reduced from HK$255 million to HK$165 million as of 21 February 2019,
details of which are set out in the paragraph “CONVERTIBLE BONDS” in this directors’
report and the announcements of the Company dated 24 April 2017, 9 May 2017, 31 May
2017, 30 June 2017, 31 July 2017, 22 September 2017, 25 September 2017, 12 October 2017,
4 December 2017, 22 January 2019, 13 February 2019 and 22 February 2019.

4. The number of Shares held by the respective Shareholders have been adjusted due to the
share subdivision of the Company took effect on 5 December 2017, details of which are set
out in the announcements of the Company dated 27 October 2017, 3 November 2017 and 6
November 2017 and the circular of the Company on 10 November 2017.

& The percentage has been adjusted, if any, based on the total number of shares of the Company
in issue as at 31 March 2019 (i.e. 2,123,002,150 shares).

(http://www.hkexnews.hk/di/di.htm) °
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, the Company had not been notified
by any persons (other than the Directors or the chief executive of the Company)
who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

COMPETING INTEREST

For the year ended 31 March 2019, save as disclosed above, the Directors were not
aware of any business or interest of the Directors, the controlling Shareholder and
their respective close associates that compete or may compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group and any other conflict of interest which

any such person has or may have with the Group.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

The controlling shareholders, namely Mr. Chan Yan Tak and Able Island,
entered into a deed of non-competition dated 24 September 2013 (“Deed of
Non-Competition™) in favour of the Company (for itself and as trustee for each
of its subsidiaries). For details of the Deed of Non-Competition, please refer to the
section headed “Non-Competition Undertakings” in the prospectus of the Company
dated 30 September 2013. Each of the controlling Shareholders confirmed that
none of them is engaged in, or interested in any business (other than the Group)
which, directly or indirectly, competes or may compete with the business of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2019. The independent non-executive
Directors also reviewed the status of compliance and the written confirmation from

each of the controlling Shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, during the year ended 31 March 2019 and up to the
date of this annual report, there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the

Company’s issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers accounted for approximately 48.9% (2018: 54.6%) of the
total sales and the aggregate sales attributable to the largest customer included

therein accounted for approximately 38.2% (2018: 50.7 %) of the total sales.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the aggregate purchases attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 44.3% (2018: 60.2%)
of the total purchases and the aggregate purchases attributable to the largest
supplier included therein accounted for approximately 12.7% (2018: 21.7%) of the

total purchases.

As far as the Directors are aware, neither the Directors, their close associates, nor
those Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in any of the

Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into or existed during
the year ended 31 March 2019.

DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group made charitable donations
amounting to approximately HK$151,224.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND RELATED
PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2019, there was no transaction which need to
be disclosed as connected transaction or continuing connected transaction in

accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Details of the related party transactions of the Group are set out in note 39 to the

audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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STAFF
As at 31 March 2019, the Group had approximately 309 employees. Salaries

of employees and directors are determined with reference to their duties and
responsibilities in the Group and are maintained at competitive levels and bonus
are fixed on a discretionary basis. Other employee benefits include provident fund,
insurance, medical cover, subsidized educational and training programmes as well

as the Share Option Scheme.

PENSION SCHEMES

The pension schemes of the Group are primary in form of contributions to Hong
Kong’s Mandatory Provident Fund and the PRC statutory public welfare fund
respectively. Details are set out in note 14 to the audited consolidated financial

statement in this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable laws, rules
and regulations in particular, those have significant impact on the Group. The
Board review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements in a regular basis. Any changes in the applicable
laws, rules and regulations are brought to the attention of relevant employees and

relevant operation units from time to time.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2019, to the best of the Company’s
knowledge, the Company has complied with the requirements under the
memorandum of association and articles of association of the Company, the
Listing Rules, the SFO, Companies Law (2016 Revision) of the Cayman Islands
and other law applicable to the Company. Details of the Company’s compliance
with the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report contained in the Listing Rules are provided in the “Corporate

Governance Report” from pages 46 to 70 of this annual report.

To protect the privacy of its employees and clients of its products and to safeguard
the interests of its employees, the Group has complied with the requirements of
the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, the Employment Ordinance, the Minimum
Wage Ordinance and ordinances relating to disability, sex, family status, race
discrimination and occupational safety through established internal policies and/or

procedures.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

Details of a significant event occurring after the reporting date are set out in note 45

to the audited consolidated financial statement in this annual report.

AUDITOR

Elite Partners CPA Limited (“Elite Partners”), being the auditor of the Company,
will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment in the 2019
AGM. A resolution for the re-appointment of Elite Partners as auditor of the
Company will be proposed at the 2019 AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Shunten International (Holdings) Limited

Wang Xihua
Acting chairman
Hong Kong, 26 June 2019
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognises the importance of good corporate governance to the
Company’s growth and has devoted considerable efforts to identifying and
formulating corporate governance practices appropriate to the Company’s needs.
The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance
Code (amended from time to time, the “Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Throughout the year
ended 31 March 2019, the Company has complied with the Code provisions as
set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules except the deviation from the Code
provision A.2.1, which stipulates that the roles of chairman of the Board and chief
executive officer of the Company (“CEQ”) should be separated. Details of the
deviation is elaborated below under the paragraph headed “Chairman and Chief

Executive Officer”.

The Company has complied with the memorandum of association and the Articles
of Association, the Companies Law (2016 Revision) of the Cayman Islands,
the Securities and Future Ordinance and the Listing Rules as well as other laws

applicable to the Company.

The Board has conducted an annual review of its corporate governance duties in
accordance with the Code, and considered that the Company’s (i) policies and
practices on corporate governance; (ii) the training and the continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management of the Company; (iii) policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (iv) the
code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and the
Directors; and (v) the compliance with the Code and disclosure in this report, are
adequate and appropriate for the Company in light of its current corporate strategy.
The Company did and will review of its corporate governance duties in light of the

changing legal and regulatory requirements as well as the Code from time to time.
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THE BOARD

Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises seven (7) Directors, all with
professional backgrounds and/or extensive expertise for the direction and oversight
of the Group’s strategic priorities and public responsibilities. During the year ended
31 March 2019 and up to the date of this report, the composition of the Board
comprises the following Directors:

Current Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney

Mr. Wang Xihua*
(temporarily acted as acting chairman and CEO
on 1 April 2019)

Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William

Independent Non-executive Directors
Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia

Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau

Mr. Tam Kin Yip

Mr. Leung Man Loon

Former Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yan Tak (the “Mr. Chan”)* (resigned as chairman and CEO
and appointed as honorary chairman on 1 April 2019)

Mr. Wong Ping Yiu (resigned on 4 May 2018)

Mr. Liao Zhe (resigned on 4 October 2018)

b Mr. Chan resigned as chairman of the Board, an executive Director, the CEO of the Company
took effect from 1 April 2019. Mr. Wang Xihua has temporarily undertaken the duties of the
chairman of the Board and the CEO with effect from 1 April 2019.

The composition, experience, balance of skills, qualifications and diversity on the
Board are regularly reviewed by nomination committee of the Company to ensure
that the Board retains a core of members with longstanding and deep knowledge
of the Group alongside new Directors who bring fresh perspectives and diverse
experience to the Board.
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The biographical details of all the current Directors are set out under the section
headed “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT” in this annual report, which demonstrate a diversity of skills,
expertise, experience and qualifications. A list of Directors identifying their
roles, functions and titles is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.shunten.com.hk). The names of
all the Directors have been disclosed in all corporate communications of the
Company.

Save as Mr. Chan, the chairman of the Board who resigned as chairman of the
Board, an executive Director and the CEO with effect from 1 April 2019), is the
brother-in-law of Mr. Lim Ming Shing, Tony, a former executive Director retired
as a Director on 31 August 2017 and resigned as the chief financial officer of the
Group on 25 January 2019, and other information disclosed in this annual report,
if any, there is no financial, business, family or other material and/or relevant

relationship between the Board members.

Directors’ Rotation and Re-election

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, at least one-third of the Directors for the
time being shall retire by rotation from the Board at the conclusion of each of
annual general meeting of the Company as well as each Director shall be subject to
retirement at the annual general meetings of the Company at least once every three
year under the Articles of Association and the Listing Rules. The Directors to retire
in every year shall be those who have been the longest in office since their last re-
elections in the annual general meeting of the Company. Any Director appointed to
fill a casual vacancy to the Board during the year is subject to retirement and then
re-election by the Shareholders at the first general meeting of the Company to be
held after his/her appointment by the Board in accordance with the Listing Rules

and the Articles of Association.

Messrs. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney and Lai Wei Lam, William, being executive
Directors, and Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau, being independent non-executive
Director, have been the longest in office among the Directors since their last re-
elections by the Shareholders, they are subject to retirement by rotation from the
Board at the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company to be held
on Monday, 19 August 2019 (the “2019 AGM”) and then they, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election as Directors by the Shareholders in the 2019 AGM in

accordance with Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association and the Listing Rules.

48 Annual Report 2018/2019 4E#

MABEEFBEIEFERRAFEREF K
EAREMEERETE] & HPh A2 T
Ly HBe - B - K5 K& o 58
A - AR S TR Y 3E g5 4 BT R
22 I 48 35 (www.hkexnews.hk) M 74 2 & 49 uh
(www.shunten.com.hk) & M - 2 HE R ELC
AR FIITE A2 il Bk ag -

B o g W BROCAE (B RHE S de g 1% - AT
ERERATHAR > ASF - UFENA - HEE
B B F—EENAA = — BB R AT
TEFMEWEE(CR-F - E A - +0H
H AR A SR M T B ) 2 R R AR AR A
B #s < HABEORE (AT A > HE g & 0 B 2 ]
Sy MEATAATRAHS ~ 65 - R s M K e, B A
BB -

HF i iy e T

IR - R 2D =00 2 — AN
7R A Je S SR A R A R SR i R
RS RARPEALA SRR R B A 45
HIR DB = AR R AN T RO AR & L m R R
W o BAEZBENHEFR A LR AL R
FOBER G EI AT AT I R R AE D - 4
TR AT P S 2 LA SR o 3 B IR 22 sk
SRR L IR ) R AL A A R A 15 M 2 A AR
TR TR T BT R B IR A HOR B AR AR HAR
R e o R A

AT 38 = e SR R ARk e R DL R g ST JE L
AT R B A B S b O SR R e A
R P AT R A o 1 S JE AR R AL A = A A0 )
A & E R AR =& —JuE A LA
(R —) 1 T EATZ AN AR FEFERE ([ 2
F—JUE R HOBAE R Er |) &5 R [ 3 e R
1T Bt SR AEE SR =2 — JLF K
FAFER G F R RRER A EE -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Change of Board Composition

Mr. Chan resigned as the chairman of the Board, an executive Director, the CEO
and an authorised representative of the Company with effect from 1 April 2019 in
order to focus on his family matters following the passing away of his spouse. Mr.
Chan has remained as director of certain subsidiaries running the health and beauty
supplements and products segment in the Group. In recognition of Mr. Chan’s
invaluable contribution and devotion to the Group during his tenure of service,
the Board has honored Mr. Chan with the title of “Honorary Chairman” of the
Company with effect from 1 April 2019.

As at the date of this report, the Company is still in the course of identifying
a suitable candidate with appropriate experience to fill the vacancy left by the
resignation of Mr. Chan as the chairman of the Board and the CEO. The duties of
the chairman of the Board and the CEO have temporarily been undertaken by Mr.

Wang Xihua, an executive Director, since 1 April 2019.

Mr. Wong Ping Yiu resigned as an executive Director with effect from 4 May 2018
due to new working arrangement in the Group.

Mr. Liao Zhe resigned as an executive Director with effect from 4 October 2018

due to new working arrangement in the Group.

Service Agreements with the Company

The Company entered into service agreements with each of the Directors for a term
of three years, respectively. Their terms of office are also subject to (1) retirement
by rotation from the Board at least once every three years at the conclusion of
annual general meeting; (2) at least one-third of the Directors for the time being
shall retire by rotation from the Board at the conclusion of each annual general
meeting; and (3) Director(s) appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy during
the year shall hold office until the conclusion of the first general meeting of the
Company to be held and then be re-appointed by the Shareholders at the same

meeting in accordance with the Articles of Association and/or the Listing Rules.

For any independent non-executive Director who has served the Company for more
than nine years, his/her further appointment will be subject to a separate resolution
to be approved by the Shareholders at the annual general meeting and the papers
to the Shareholders accompanying that resolution will include the reasons why
the Board believes he/she is still independent and should be re-elected under the
Listing Rules. The respective appointment dates of all independent non-executive

Directors (all have served the Company less than nine years) are set out below:

Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia was appointed on 15 April 2016.
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau was appointed on 24 October 2016.
Mr. Tam Kin Yip was appointed on 7 March 2017.

Mr. Leung Man Loon was appointed on 11 September 2017.
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Directors’ Responsibilities and Delegation

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the Board. The
Board has delegated the day-to-day management, administration and operation
of the Company’s business to the senior management of the Company and the
delegated functions and work tasks have been formalised and periodically reviewed
by the Board. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant
transactions, arrangements and/or contracts entered into by the senior management
of the Company and the Group. The Board focuses its attention on matters affecting
the Company’s overall strategic policies, corporate governance, finances and the
Shareholders, including financial statements, dividend policy, significant changes
in accounting policy, annual operating budget, certain material contracts, strategies
for future growth, major financing arrangements and major investments, corporate
governance functions, risk management system, treasury policies and fare
structures. The Board has the full support of its senior management to discharge its

responsibilities.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman of the Board and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. During the year ended 31 March 2019, Mr. Chan Yan Tak was the
Chairman and the CEO and resigned both positions with effect from 1 April 2019
(the “Resignation of Mr. Chan”).

Mr. Chan provided leadership to the Board in terms of establishing policies,
strategies, business directions and development and ensured that the Board
discharges its responsibilities. Mr. Chan has been responsible for the overall
management and strategic development of the Group since 2005. He was also
responsible for formulating, approving, organising and implementing the Group’s
strategy. His expert knowledges in the areas of development and retail marketing of
health and beauty supplement products has assisted the Group to grow substantially
over the past ten years. Although Mr. Chan served as both the chairman of the
Board and CEO of the Company was a deviation from A.2.1 of the code provisions,
given Mr. Chan’s extensive experience in the business of the Group, it was more
efficient for Mr. Chan to perform both roles. It was also more favorable to the
development and management of the Group’s business. Moreover, all other
members of the Board have the experience and expertise to ensure balance of

power and authority so that the power was not concentrated in any one individual.

The duties of the chairman of the Board and the CEO have been temporarily
undertaken by Mr. Wang Xihua, an executive Director, since the effective date of
the Resignation of Mr. Chan, i.e. 1 April 2019. The Company is in the course of
identifying a suitable candidate with appropriate experience to fill the vacancy left
by the Resignation of Mr. Chan and the Company will make announcement thereon

in due course in accordance with the Listing Rules.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors take an active role in Board meetings
and committees of the Board, contribute to the development of strategies and
policies and make sound judgement in various aspects. They take lead when
potential conflicts of interest arise. Independent board committee of the Company
comprising all independent non-executive Directors will be formed to advise the
independent Shareholders on those connected transactions to be approved by the
independent Shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive Directors are
also members of various Board Committees and devote sufficient amount of time

and attention to the affairs of the Company.

Directors’ Induction and Development

The Company provides a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction programme
for newly appointed Directors to enhance their knowledge and understanding
of the key areas of business operations and practices of the Group as well as the
general and specific responsibilities and duties of Directors under the Articles
of Association, the Companies Law (2016 Revision) of the Cayman Islands, the
Listing Rules and relevant applicable regulatory requirements in Cayman Islands
and Hong Kong.

An induction programme covering the roles of a Director from group structure,
Board procedures, business management and operation of the Company, duties
under the Listing Rules, the SFO, as well as the essence of corporate governance
and the trends in these areas, have therefore arranged for all newly appointed

Directors from the time to time.
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Continuous professional development and training of Directors is an ongoing
process to ensure the continued enhancement of their skills and knowledge.
The company secretary regularly circulates information and materials related to
roles, functions and duties of listed company directors, business research and
development, updated rules and regulations, economic, environmental and social
topics to develop and refresh knowledge and skills of the Directors. All Directors
are encouraged to attend relevant training courses provided by external bodies at
the Company’s expense. During the year ended 31 March 2019, the record of the

trainings of the Directors, on named basis, is set out in the table below:

PR E R R RIS IR A B R R » BT
N BT R A S YRR R R o 2 DR T E
BLETAFESRNAG - BRRE R - EHUTR
Lg% ~ R 9 B SR D R R BT
A B B 10 OB Bb ek LA R B S S
e KA RE o A2 T i 4 S R A0 S T
ST A0 A B B B 5 R AR FURYE o R
TER-NEZA =T HIRFE RIS
BRI HEHE LB K

Training on

corporate
governance,
regulatory
development
and other
relevant topics
FEER
BB R
F A B
Directors e FREEN
Executive Directors HAiTHEF
Mr. Chan Yan Tak (“Mr. Chan”) (resigned as chairman and Wi R S A (TG A L) (ot =B —JL4F I H — H
CEO on I April 2019) B T A TR ) v
Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney ZristE e v
Mr. Wang Xihua* (appointed as acting chairman and VG HES A (R E—LEPYH —H
acting CEO on 1 April 2019) FEZF L PTG ) v
Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William RS v
Independent Non-executive Directors B LI T
Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia AlfEER Lt v
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau PEH e v
Mr. Tam Kin Yip ElieE s v
Mr. Leung Man Loon RICHESEAE v
Former Directors HifE#
Executive Director HfT#H
Mr. Wong Ping Yiu (resigned on 4 May 2018) FOERE A (Ot = — /\4E T H Y H §HE) N/AAE
Mr. Liao Zhe (resigned on 4 October 2018) PR S (Ot = — N 4E A H I H BEHT) v
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All Directors are required to provide the Company with their training records on
an annual basis, and such records are maintained by the company secretary of the
Company for regular review by the nomination committee of the Company. The
training records of the Directors were reviewed by the nomination committee of the

Company in June 2019.

Board and Board Committees Proceedings

The Directors attend quarterly Board meetings and meets at other times as and
when required. All Directors have full and timely access to relevant information
of the Company and may take independent professional advice at the Company’s

expense, if necessary, in accordance with the approved procedures.

Notice to regular Board meeting is served to all Directors at least 14 days before the
meeting. For other Board and committees of the Board (“Board Committee(s)”)

meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

The draft agenda for Board and Board Committees meetings is prepared by
the company secretary and approved by the chairman of the Board and Board
Committees. Directors are advised to inform the chairman of the Board and Board
Committees or the company secretary not less than one week before the relevant
Board and Board Committees meeting if they wish to include a matter in the agenda
of the meeting. The agenda together with Board and Board Committees papers are
sent at least three days before the intended date of the Board and Board Committees
meeting. To facilitate the decision-making process, the Directors and Committee
members are free to have access to the management for enquiries and to obtain
further information and have unrestricted access to the advice and services of the

company secretary when required.

The chairman of the Board has encouraged all Directors to make full and active
contributions to the Board’s affairs and takes the lead to ensure that the Board
acts in the best interest of the Company and the Shareholder as a whole. He
has promoted a culture of openness and debate by facilitating the effective
contribution of independent non-executive Directors and ensuring constructive
relations between executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors.
Accordingly, the Board operates in a functional manner with clearly defined

objectives, strategies and responsibilities.
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All Directors are required to comply with their duty to act in the best interests of the
Company and have particular regard to the interest of the Shareholders as a whole.
Amongst others, all Directors are required to declare the nature and extent of their
interests, if any, in any transaction, arrangement, contract or other proposal to be
considered by the Board at Board meetings. Unless specifically permitted by the
Articles of Association, a Director cannot cast a vote on any contract, transaction,
arrangement or any other proposal in which he/she has or any of his/her close

associates is materially interested.

Monthly financial and operational information is provided to the Directors by the
company secretary to discharge their duties and acknowledge the development of
the Company from time to time. Other regular and ad hoc reports are also prepared
for the Board and Board Committees, to ensure that the Directors and member of
the Board Committees are supplied with all the requested information in a timely

and appropriate manner.

Directors’ Attendance Records at Meetings
The individual attendance record of each Director at meetings of the Board as well

as the annual general meeting of the Company during the year ended 31 March
2019 is as follows:

0 R AT HI R - 3 DAAS A Al R A 4
Fref > dARHIE R R B Rl di o b > 2R
FEPH A HMET A R R E R gk L
BIERAL T - TPk - A # alCH A R T T B
fik PP S A (AN ) o B I AELAR =72 40 s 1l
HLHE > 75 AT BCHAT AT R R A+
JE TR M R AT S A - 225 - L PEER
AR AT HoAt i R B -

A FVR TR A 1 4 S SRR 0
BT EOMRE BRI T WA 7 2 500 - IR i
PR T E R R R R
DA (7 05 1 00 7% 9 T R 4
AR BT — 0 e -

o R e o
BER-NF=EH=+—HILFE  SE&EFH
Tt ok AR A RO A K A e Bk
I -

Attendance/Number
of meetings during
the Directors’ tenure of office

HHRAEWI N BRIk
Annual
general meeting Board
&Sk N HEY
Number of Meeting(s) 2k e 1 22
Executive Directors HTHEHE
Mr. Chan Yan Tak! ot S At St 1/1 22/22
Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney ZEE A 1/1 21/22
Mr. Wang Xihua! F P A 1/1 21/22
Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William B AR AR 11 22/22
Independent Non-executive Directors WL IR TEFH
Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia A L+ 1/1 22/22
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau RS 1/1 22/22
Mr. Tam Kin Yip EelEE s 1/1 22/22
Mr. Leung Man Loon Ly 1/1 22/22
Former Directors HiE# S
Executive Directors BfTEHE
Mr. Wong Ping Yiu? BT e A N/AAS 3 Fl 3/3
Mr. Liao Zhe? B Se A /1 10/10
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Notes:

1. The resignation of Mr. Chan as chairman of the Board, an executive Director and the CEO
with effect from 1 April 2019. Mr. Wang Xihua has temporarily undertaken the duties of the
chairman of the Board and the CEO since 1 April 2019.

Mr. Wong Ping Yiu resigned on 4 May 2018.
Mr. Liao Zhe resigned on 4 October 2018.

Directors are expected to devote sufficient time and attention in performing their
duties and responsibilities towards the Company. The high attendance record at the
Board meetings and Board committees meetings for the year ended 31 March 2019,
which was reviewed by the nomination committee of the Company in June 2019,

demonstrated the Directors’ strong commitment to the Company.

The minutes of Board and Board committees meetings are currently prepared by
the company secretary with details of the matters considered by the Board and
Board committees and decisions reached, including any concerns raised by the
Director(s) and members of Board committees or dissenting views expressed (if
any). The draft minutes are circulated to all members of the Board and Board

committees for their comment within a reasonable time after the meeting.

Statutory Confirmations

The Company has received written annual confirmations of independence from
all independent non-executive Directors for the year ended 31 March 2019 in
accordance with rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, amended from time to time. The
nomination committee of the Company has assessed their independence and
concluded that all the independent non-executive Directors are independent within
the definition of the Listing Rules and continues to consider each of them to be

independent.

According to the Code, each Director should ensures that he/she can give
sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company and make contribution
to the development of the Company’s strategy and policies through independent,
constructive and informed comments. The chairman of the Board held a meeting
with the non-executive Directors without the other executive Director during the

year.

Regarding disclosure of the number and nature of offices held by the Directors in
public companies or organisations and other significant commitments as well as
their identity and the time involved (the “Commitments”) to the Company, all
Directors have agreed to confirm/update their Commitments to the Company in
a timely manner and confirm his/her other directorships, major appointments and

interests to the Company twice a year.
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Directors’ Insurance

Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance has been arranged for all Directors,
including company securities, employment practices, regulatory crisis event,
investigation, litigation, tax liabilities and public relation, etc.. The Company has
conducted an annual review of the Company’s Directors’ and Officers’ liability
insurance policy with reference to recent trends in the insurance market and other
relevant factors. The review compared the amount of coverage against other similar

policies purchase by other companies.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out
in the Appendix 10 of Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions in the securities of the Company. Upon the Company’s
specific enquiry, each Director has confirmed that they have fully complied with
the Model Code under the Listing Rules, and there is no event of non-compliance.
Employees of the Company, who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
inside information of the Company, have been requested to comply with the

provisions of the Model Code.

COMPANY SECRETARY

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the company secretary,
who is responsible for ensuring that the Board procedures are followed and for
facilitating information flows and communications among the Directors as well
as with the Shareholders and management. Mr. Wong Kui Tong is currently the
company secretary of the Company. Please refer to the section “BIOGRAPHICAL
DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT” for details of Mr.

Wong’s professional qualifications.

BOARD COMMITTEES

As an integral part of good corporate governance, the Board has established a
total of three Board committees, namely, the audit committee, the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee, to oversee particular aspects of
the Company’s affairs. Each of these Board committees is governed by its
respective terms of reference (amended from time to time) which are available
on the websites of both the Company (www.shunten.com.hk) and the Stock

Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their
duties and are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate

circumstances, at the Company’s expense, to perform their responsibilities.
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Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”) has been established
by the Board, it comprises a minimum of three members, at least one of whom is
an independent non-executive Director with appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise as required under the Rule
3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. The majority of the Audit Committee members is
currently independent non-executive Directors. The Audit Committee is currently
chaired by an independent non-executive Director in compliance with the Rule 3.21
of the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee consists of four (4) members, they are all independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau (chairman), Ms. Szeto
Wai Ling, Virginia, Mr. Tam Kin Yip and Mr. Leung Man Loon. None of the
members of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the Company’s existing

external auditor.

Duties of Audit Committee

The primary duties of the Audit Committee, among other things, are to make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of
the external auditor; review the financial statements and material advice (if any) in
respect of financial reporting system; and oversee internal control system and risk

management system of the Company.

Work Performed by Audit Committee
During the financial year ended 31 March 2019, the Audit Committee held three (3)

meetings. The attendance of each member at meetings is as follows:
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Attendance/
No. of meetings during

the members tenure

of office

sk

Name of members A4 B P R B
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau (Chairman) PRI () 3/3
Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia FREES L+ 3/3
Mr. Tam Kin Yip Bl s 3/3
Mr. Leung Man Loon RIS 3/3
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In accordance with its terms of reference, the Audit Committee performed, inter
alia, the following work during the year ended 31 March 2019 and up to the date of
this report:

1. reviewed, approved and recommended the draft audited financial statements
and unaudited financial statements, the interim and final dividend (if any)
and the draft results announcements of the Company, including any changes
in accounting policies and practices; major judgmental areas; compliance
with accounting and auditing standards; and compliance with the listing
requirements on the Listing Rules and legal requirements in relation to

financial reporting prior to recommending them to the Board for approval.

2. reviewed, approved and recommended the report in relation to the evaluation
of the adequacy and effectiveness and of the internal control system and
the risk management system of the Group and the relevant report prior to
recommending them to the Board for approval.

3. reviewed, assessed and commented relationship with the external auditor
and independence and the level of support and co-operation given by the
Group’s management.

4. reviewed, approved and recommended the re-appointment and remuneration

of the external auditor.

5. reviewed, assessed and commented the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of the staff of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting
function and their training programmes and budget.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company (“Remuneration Committee”)
has been established by the Board, it is currently chaired by an independent non-
executive Director and comprising a majority of independent non-executive
Directors in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee consists of four (4) members, they are all
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Tam Kin Yip (chairman), Ms.
Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia, Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau and Mr. Leung Man
Loon.

Duties of Remuneration Committee

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make recommendations
to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and structure relating to all
the Directors and senior management of the Group; review performance based
remuneration; and ensure none of the Directors determine their own remuneration.
The Remuneration Committee also administers and makes recommendation to the
Board with respect to the share option scheme adopted by the Company. When the
remuneration package of an individual Director is under review, such Director will

abstain from voting.
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Work Performed by Remuneration Committee

During the financial year ended 31 March 2019, the Remuneration Committee held

nine (9) meetings. The attendance of each member is as follows:

e SRR

FZ R &P AT L AE

WEZF-NFE=A =+ H I BEFEE - #
ZEEYEITIL(9) KGR S HE R
IR -

Attendance/
No. of meetings during

the members tenure

of office

ks,

Name of members BB ik B B AR A s
Mr. Tam Kin Yip (Chairman) FRESE A () 9/9
Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia AEER Lt 9/9
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau RS 979
Mr. Leung Man Loon RIS 9/9

In accordance with its terms of reference, the Remuneration Committee performed,

inter alia, the following work during the year ended 31 March 2019 and up to the

date of this report:

1.

reviewed, commented and/or approved the policy and structure for the

remuneration of Directors and senior management.

reviewed, commented and approved the procedures for fixing the

remuneration packages.

reviewed and made recommendation on the remuneration packages with
reference to comparable companies, time commitment, responsibilities
and employment conditions of the respective Directors and the senior

management and/or other matters.

reviewed, approved and recommended the respective Directors’ service

agreement.

consider and approve the salary increment and bonus arrangement for

certain Directors and senior management of the Group.

reviewed, approved and recommended the payment to the Directors, if any,

in relation to the retirement and resignation of the Directors.

revised, approved and recommended the grant of share option to the

Directors.
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Details of the Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2019 are set
out in note 9 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
In addition, pursuant to the Code provision B.1.5, the annual remuneration of the
senior management of the Group by bands for the year ended 31 March 2019 is set

out below:

BE ZJUEZ A =+ — H I E
175 81 A A A R A8 S A% A B T R B 59 o Ut
Gh s RESFAIEXBAS > WE E—LEZH
=t —HIRERE > B o 2 A SR e A B
J& 2 AEFEH R T

Number of individuals

Remuneration to the senior management by bands i BB PR 2 55 T A N
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001%5 7t 422,000,000 7G 2
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7t £ 3,000,000 7 1
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 7T %4,500,000% 7T 1
HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 5,500,001 7T 26,000,000 7T 1
HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 6,000,001 7T 26,500,000 7T 1
HK$9,000,001 to HK$9,500,000 9,000,001 7t %29,500,000%5 7T 1

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee of the Company (“Nomination Committee”) has been
established by the Board, it is currently chaired by an independent non-executive
Director and comprises a majority of independent non-executive Directors in
compliance with Rules A5.1 and A5.2 under the Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

The Nomination Committee consists of four (4) members, they are all independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Tam Kin Yip (chairman), Ms. Szeto Wai

Ling, Virginia, Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau and Mr. Leung Man Loon.

Duties of Nomination Committee

The primary function of the Nomination Committee is to make recommendations
to the Board regarding appointment of Directors and candidates to fill vacancies
on the Board and to assess the independence of the independent non-executive

Directors.

The Company adopted a board diversity policy, amend from time to time,
(“Diversity Policy”) since 2013 which sets out the approach to achieve diversity
of Board members. The objective of the Diversity Policy stated that selection
of candidates be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service, the summary of which are set

out below:

(a)  With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the
Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element
in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable

development.
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In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been considered
from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,

knowledge and length of service.

All Board appointments did and will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates did and will be considered against objective criteria, having due

regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Work Performed by Nomination Committee
During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Nomination Committee held two (2)

meetings. The attendance of each member is as follows:

(b)

(©

e SRR
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iU ASIE Y I PN IS LI
oy R B 2 T AL AR o

HEZ A FPTRIT A
WEZE-JUE=ZAZ+—HIEEE - 24 %8
G RATWQWR G o WA R B

o
Attendance/
No. of meetings during
the members tenure
of office
e v
Name of members A B B AT A g IR
Mr. Tam Kin Yip (Chairman) S (T 2/2
Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia Gkt an 2/2
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau PP 2/2
Mr. Leung Man Loon PCHE e 2/2

In accordance with its terms of reference, the Nomination Committee performed

the following, inter alia, work during the year ended 31 March 2019 and up to the

date of this report:

reviewed, assessed and commented, inter alia, the policy for the nomination

of Directors.

assessed the independence of each independent non-executive Director.

sourced and recommended individuals suitably qualified, if any, to become

Board members.

approved and recommended to the changes in the Board composition,

resignations and the retirements in Directors.
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5. identified and recommended those Directors to be retired by rotation from

the Board and then be re-elected as Directors in the annual general meeting
of the Company in accordance with the Articles of Association and the

Listing Rules.

reviewed and assessed the structure, size and composition of the Board and
analysis the diversity of the Board with reference with the Board Diversity

Policy.

Nomination Policy

The Company adopted below the policy for nomination of Directors (including the

nomination procedures and criteria for selection and recommendation of candidates

for directorship) in accordance with the new amendments to the Code, which took

effect from 1 January 2019.

Selection Criteria

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the Nomination Committee

in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate:

reputation for integrity;

accomplishment, experiences and/or knowledge in the principal business of

our group, from time to time;
commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest; and
diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender, age (18 years

or above), cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional

experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive and decisive.

The Nomination Committee has the discretion to nominate any person, as it

considers appropriate.
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Nomination Procedures

1.

The secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a meeting of the
Nomination Committee, and invite nominations of candidates from Board
members, if any, for consideration by the Nomination Committee prior to its
meeting. The Nomination Committee may also put forward candidates who

are not nominated by Board members.

For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations for the Board’s consideration and approval. For proposing
candidates to stand for election at a general meeting, the Nomination
Committee shall make nominations to the Board for its consideration and

recommendation.

In order to provide information of the candidates nominated by the Board
to stand for election at a general meeting, a circular will be sent to the
Shareholders. Pursuant to Bye-laws of the Company, if a Shareholder wish
to propose a person other than a retiring Director for election as a Director at
a general meeting of the Company, the Shareholder should deposit a written
notice of nomination which shall be given to the head office of the Company
within the 7-day period commencing the day after the dispatch of the notice
of the meeting (or such other period as may be determined and announced
by the Directors from time to time). The relevant procedures are posted
on the Company’s website (www.shunten.com.hk). The particulars of the
candidates so proposed will be sent to all shareholders for information by a

supplementary circular.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the accounts of
the Company and of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019. The accounts
are prepared on a going concern basis and give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2019, and of the Group’s
loss and cash flow for the year then ended. In preparing the accounts for the
year ended 31 March 2019, the Directors have selected appropriate accounting
policies and, apart from those new and amended accounting policies as disclosed
in the notes to the accounts for the year ended 31 March 2019, have applied them
consistently with previous financial periods. Judgments and estimates have been
made that are prudent and reasonable. The reporting responsibilities of the external
auditor are set out on pages 71 to 78 of this annual report.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$233.4 million. This condition indicates the existence of a material uncertainty
which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and therefore, the Group may not be able to realise its assets and discharge
its liabilities in the normal course of business, details of which may refer to the note
2 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Internal Control System and Risk Management System

The Board is responsible for maintaining and reviewing the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal controls and risk management,
(the “System”), which are designed to meet the Group’s particular needs and to
minimise the risks to which the Group is exposed, and are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risks to achieve business objective and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against misstatements or losses. The
Group’s internal control framework covers (i) the setting of objectives, budgets
and targets; (ii) the establishment of regular reporting of financial information, in
particular, the tracking of deviations between actual performances and budgets/
targets; (iii) the delegation of authority; (iv) the establishment of clear lines of
accountability; and (v) review and evaluation of the Systems.

On behalf of the Board, the Audit Committee has reviewed the report prepared by
external independent professional firm in respect of the adequacy and effectiveness
of the System of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019, including the
reliability of financial reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of operations,
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, effectiveness of risk management
functions and the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function
and budget. This is achieved primarily through approving the scope of the annual
internal audit plan, reviewing the findings of internal audit work, the annual and
interim financial statements, and the nature, scope of work, and report of the
external independent professional firm. Base on the results of the annual review
by the audit committee, the Board considered that the Systems are effective and
adequate. There is no significant change in the nature and extent of risks and
the Company’s ability to respond to changes in its business and the external

environment since the last annual review.
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Process Used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage Risks

The Board monitors the Group’s business risks, operating risk management and
internal controls. An external audit has been conducted to carry out the internal
audit functions to ensure proper compliance with the internal control systems and
risk management system to identify the potential risks which may arise in the
operation and financial of the Group’s business for implementation of appropriate
measures and policies on a continuing basis. The scope of review and the audit
programme of external audit company, which are formulated based on a risk
assessment approach and focuses on areas with relatively higher perceived risks,
are approved by the audit committee at the end of the preceding financial year
in conjunction with the management. The external audit company executes their
functions based on a yearly plan and prepares reports for their assignments. These
reports are submitted to the management, the Board and the Audit Committee for
review on a regular basis. Such reports are also circulated to the external auditor on

an annual basis.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Board has approved and adopted an Inside Information Disclosure Policy
(the “Disclosure Policy”) for the Company since 2013 for monitoring inside
information to ensure compliance with the Listing Rules and the Securities and

Futures Ordinance.

The Disclosure Policy sets out the obligations, guidelines and procedures
for handling and dissemination of inside information to all Directors, senior
management and relevant employees. These guidelines and procedures to ensure
that the inside information of the Company is to be disseminated to the public in
equal and timely manner in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.
The inside information should remain confidential until the disclosure of such
information is appropriately approved, and the dissemination of such information
is efficiently and consistently made. Disclosure must be made in a manner that the
public can have an equal, timely and effective access to the information available
through the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company

(www.shunten.com.hk).
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company’s annual general meeting is one of the principal channels of
communication with its Shareholders. The Board and the management are
committed to use of annual general meetings of the Company as a forum to meet
with the Shareholders and to hear their views and answer their questions about the
Group and its business. The chairman of the Board, and each Board Committee’s
chairman or his alternate did and would attend annual general meetings of the

Company along with the external auditor to answer Shareholders’ questions.

All Shareholders are encouraged to attend annual general meeting and exercise
their right to vote. Shareholders who are unable to attend annual general meeting
can appoint proxies to attend and vote at annual general meeting. Completion and
return of the form of proxy will not prevent Shareholders from attending and voting

in person at the annual general meeting if Shareholders so wish.

The Company did and will send the notice of the annual general meeting to
Shareholders at least 20 clear business days before the annual general meeting. The
Company did and would send meeting notice to Shareholders not less than 10 clear

business days before any extraordinary general meetings of the Company.

Shareholders are invited to ask questions related to the business of the Company.
Apart from usual business at the annual general meeting, the Board has proposed
general mandates for the repurchase of shares and the issue of shares of the

Company.

Further details of business to be conducted at the annual general meeting will
be set out in the circular to the Shareholders to be sent together with annual
report and posted on the websites of the Company (www.shunten.com.hk) and
the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk). All resolutions be passed by way of
a poll conducted and verified by the Company’s branch share registrar, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, as an independent scrutineer. The poll results of each
of the proposed resolutions to the Board be published on the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s websites (www.shunten.com.hk) shortly
after annual general meeting and extraordinary general meeting of the Company
held.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Dividend Policy
The distribution of any dividend by the Company is subject to the discretion of the

Board, which normally did/will take into account of the following factors:

. The financial results of the Company;

o Interests of the Shareholders;

O General business conditions and strategies;

. The capital requirements of the Group;

. Contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by the Company to the

Shareholders or by the subsidiaries to the Company, if any;

. Taxation considerations;

. Possible effects on our creditworthiness;

. Statutory and regulatory restrictions; and

. Any other factors the Board may deem relevant.

There is no assurance that any particular dividend amount, or any dividend at all,
will be declared and paid in the future.
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Procedures for making enquiries to the Board
Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to the
Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer agent, namely, Tricor

Investor Services Limited, whose contact details are as follows:

Tricor Investor Services Limited
Address R Level 22, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

(which will be changed to

Level 54, Hopewell Centre,

183 Queen’s Road East,

Hong Kong with effect from 11 July 2019)

Telephone (852) 2980 1333

Fax © (852) 28108185

E-mail : is-enquiries @hk.tricorglobal.com
Website : http://www.tricoris.com

Attention : Board of Directors/Company Secretary

Shareholders and members of the investor community are welcome to send their

enquiries to the Board and the company secretary as follows:

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited
Address : Unit A, 12/F.,
Guangdong Investment Tower,
148 Connaught Road Central,

Hong Kong
Telephone (852) 3700 7300
Fax : (852) 3700 7301
E-mail : ir@shunten.com.hk
Website : www.shunten.com.hk

Shareholders may at any time make a request for the Company’s information to the

extent such information is publicly available.
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Procedures for convening extraordinary general meeting on
requisition

One or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company (the “Requisition”) to
require an extraordinary general meeting of the Company to be called by the Board

for the transaction of any business specified in the Requisition.
The Requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the secretary of the
Company at the principal place of business in Hong Kong and registered office of

the Company in Cayman Islands as follows:

Principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong

Address Unit A, 12/F., Guangdong Investment Tower,
148 Connaught Road Central,
Hong Kong

Attention Board of Director/Company Secretary

Registered office of the Company in Cayman Islands
Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

Address Cricket Square Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681 Grand Cayman
KY1-1111 Cayman Island

Attention Board of Director/Company Secretary

Procedures for Shareholders to put forward proposals at general
meetings

Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals for the Company’s consideration
at the general meetings can send their proposals to the company secretary at the

principal place of business in Hong Kong as specified above.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

In order to develop and maintain a continuing investors’ relationship programme
to enable Shareholders and investors to better understand the Group’s business,
the Company has established various channels of communication with the

Shareholders and the investor community:

1. Shareholders can raise any comments on the performance and future

directions of the Company with the directors at the annual general meeting.

2. The Company may arrange press and analysts’ conferences in relation to
the results announcements, at which the chairman of the Board and/or the
executive Directors are available to answer questions regarding the Group’s

operational and financial performances.

3. The Company’s website at www.shunten.com.hk contains important
corporate information, annual and interim reports, as well as announcements
and circulars issued by the Company to enable the Shareholders and the
investor community to have timely access to updated information about the

Group.

4. The Board has established a Shareholders’ communication policy since 2013

and has reviewed and reviews it on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness.

5. The Company has uploaded its memorandum and articles of association of
the Company on the Company’s website at www.shunten.com.hk and the

Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The Company engages Elite Partners CPA Limited (“Elite Partners™) as its
external auditor. In order to maintain Elite Partners’s independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable standards,
the Audit Committee reviewed all audit services to be provided by Elite Partners
and discusses with Elite Partners the nature and scope of their audit and reporting

obligations.

The Audit Committee also reviewed and approved the engagement of Elite Partners
to provide any non-audit services for complying with relevant legal requirements.
During the year ended 31 March 2019, audit services fees payable to auditors
amounted to HK$945,000 (2018: HK$900,000). Non-audit services fee payable to
auditors during the year amounted to HK$422,000 (2018: HK$64,000).
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

elite
< partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SHUNTEN INTERNATIONAL
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Shunten International
(Holdings) Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on
pages 79 to 275, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 March 2019, consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2019, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention in note 2(b) to the consolidated financial statements
which describes that the Group had net current liabilities with the amount of
approximately HK$233,446,000. These conditions, along with other matters as set
forth in note 2(b) to the consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence
of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of on this
matter.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

5 ¢ 7 Wt R IH

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were  BH§H AT 37 B R MR IETRAM A9 SL2EHI B > R A ¥R
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the — 4 & B E A BT B EEAYFIE o B H
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the T YEFRAYFF 5138 M8 45 & W R M b FL 3 DL
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 4T EHY o TR A € H S Lo I IH IR BB 1Y &

and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters

RE RS

5 e

How the matter was addressed in our audit

A i 7 - o B %

Business combinations

ES7 2egi

Refer to Note 2(e) “Significant Accounting Policies”, Note
5(xi) “Critical Accounting Estimates” and Note 35 “Business
combinations” to the consolidated financial statements.
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On 17 December 2018, the Group completed an acquisition of
H365 Health Products Limited, CJ Pharmaceutical Limited and
CV Virtue Limited (collectively known as “H365 Group”),
companies incorporated in Hong Kong, together with the
shareholder’s loans of H365 Group, at a cash consideration of
HK$39,000,000. H365 Group are principally engaged in the
sales and distribution of healthcare products.
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In response to this key audit matter, we performed the following

procedures:

SPEZ B TRAT I RARBCT SRR

¢  Reviewed the sale and purchase agreement and evaluated the
accounting treatment for the acquisition with reference to the
terms set out in the sale and purchase agreement;
A el B Th kB 22 I e T ) R A R By
%

¢ Obtained and reviewed the valuation assessment prepared by the
independent qualified valuer engaged by the management and
on which the management’s assessment of the fair values of the
assets and liabilities acquired was based;
BT o i T L R T 2% A 0 S A il (L A Y e 3 S
At TSI 2 B A P (LR T AR 1) A (LA 5

¢ Assessed the independent qualified valuer’s qualification,
experience and expertise in the assets being valued and
considered their objectivity and independence;
T A 8 7 AR A (L A IR~ AR BR KR BT BT A U T
M BN - 375 R A B S RS
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters

CE SR
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

FRAM A w Ao B O

Business combinations (Continued)

SEB A (FD)

Management has engaged an independent qualified valuer
to assist them in identifying the intangible assets and to
perform the valuation of the identified assets and liabilities
of the acquired company at its acquisition date, based on
which, management performed a purchase price allocation
exercise for the acquisition, which resulted in recognition of
intangible assets of approximately HK$12,739,000, being
the identified brand name and sales distribution channel, and
goodwill of approximately HK$22,383,000, being the excess
of consideration paid over the fair value of identified net assets
acquired.
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Significant judgements and estimates were involved in the
fair value assessment of the identified brand name and sales
distribution channel and the recognition of goodwill arising
from the business combination. These significant judgements
and estimates include the adoption of appropriate valuation
methodologies and the use of key assumptions in the valuation.
3T A i 42 A B 1 0 B SRR AT A (LR A B e RR
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Discussed with the independent qualified valuer on the valuation
methodologies adopted in assessing the fair values of the
assets and liabilities acquired, including intangible assets, and
challenged the assumptions and critical judgements which
impacted the valuation by comparing these assumptions and
critical judgements with market data, our past experience of
similar transactions and the Group’s business plan supporting the
business combination;
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Evaluated the valuation methodology adopted by the independent
qualified valuer with reference to industry standards and the
requirements of the prevailing accounting standards; and
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(AT AT R RO AN (B3 5 e

Assessed the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
in respect of the business combination in accordance with the
requirements of the prevailing accounting standards.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters

CE SR

3R 4 2 = 0 (4

How the matter was addressed in our audit

FRAM A G Ao B O

Goodwill impairment assessment

P R A

Refer to Note 2(1)(ii) “Significant Accounting Policies”, Note
5(vii) “Critical Accounting Estimates” and Note 18 “Goodwill”
to the consolidated financial statements.
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As at 31 March 2019, the Group had goodwill of approximately
HK$199.879,000, in respect of which management is required
to perform annual impairment assessment. For the purpose
of assessing impairment, the management reviewed business
performance of each business lines, identified the cash
generating units (“CGUs”) or the groups of CGUs, allocated
the goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives to
the lowest level at which such assets is monitored for internal
management purpose, and compared the recoverable amount
with the carrying value of each CGUs as at 31 March 2019.
RoF-AE=ZA=+—H > HEMHOHELS
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Management has engaged independent qualified valuer to assist
them in an impairment review by comparing the recoverable
amounts of the goodwill, estimated based on value in use
calculation, with their carrying amounts. The key assumptions
and judgements adopted in the relevant discounted cash flow
forecasts included discount rates and expected revenue growth
rates beyond the five-year projection period. When the model
of value in use was used, management made significant
assumptions and judgements, including forecast revenue growth
rates, forecast operating margins and discount rates of each
business segment.
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In response to this key audit matter, we performed the following

procedures:

St B AR R IH > MR SRS

e Assessed the independent qualified valuer’s qualifications,
experience and expertise in the impairment assessment and
considered their objectivity and independence;

A 8 S A AR A (L BT P R AR B A A T Y
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¢ Obtained, understood and evaluated managements’ valuation
methodologies for value in use calculations;
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¢ Challenged the key assumptions used in determining the
recoverable amounts of the cash generating units. This included
a comparison of the assumptions with externally derived data
including external hospitality industry reports; and
B 158 A B < 7 A LS 1Y T g Il < A IR A Y R AR
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e Considered the appropriateness of the disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements about the methodologies used
and the key assumptions applied.

% 1 A W B AR T e A (0 T 7 T B I T B A
F 5 2 W



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters

CE SR
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

FRAM A w Ao B O

Valuation of convertible bonds

] I IR AG A

Refer to Note 2(v) “Significant Accounting Policies” and
Note 28 “Convertible bonds” to the consolidated financial
statements.

SR EE S MR FE2(v) FEEFTBOR 1M gE28 7]
b fEs | o

The new convertible bonds issued by the Company in February
2019 are compound financial instruments that include (a)
a liability component to pay interest and principal if the
convertible bonds are not converted into ordinary shares of the
Company and (b) a conversion option classified as equity as the
conversion would result in a fixed number of ordinary shares
to be issued for a fixed amount of cash. The convertible bonds
are initially measured at fair value, with the difference between
the fair value of the convertible bonds and the fair value of the
liability component determined based on the present value of
the contractual cash flows discounted at a rate of interest of
instruments with similar terms and comparable credit status
but without the conversion option being allocated to the
conversion option classified as equity. The liability component
is subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. The conversion option classified as equity is
not subsequently remeasured.
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In response to this key audit matter, we performed the following

procedures:

BHEPE —BSERR AT SH  RMCET LT RT

* Assessed the independent qualified valuer’s qualification,
experience and expertise in the valuation of bonds and considered
their objectivity and independence;

A S7 G AR Al (R I - AR B R il (B U T Y
TR o M R B RS

e Obtained and reviewed the valuation assessment prepared by the
independent qualified valuer and on which the assessment of the
management of the fair value of the convertible bonds was based;
BAT e o ] 88 7. Al (P A S T 22 TR Al v 488 M
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* Discussed with the independent qualified valuer on the
valuation methodologies adopted in assessing the fair value
of the convertible bonds, on initial recognition and challenged
the assumptions and critical judgements which impacted
the valuation by comparing these assumptions and critical
judgements with market data, our past experience of similar
transactions and the Group’s business profile; and
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* Considered the appropriateness of the disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements about the methodologies used
and the key assumptions applied.
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information included in the annual report, other than the

consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be

materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have

nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR

THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their

responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this

report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these

consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement

and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s

internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the

directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
38 A% L e

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a

manner that achieves fair presentation.

s Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the group to express
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report
is Yip Kai Yin, with Practising Certificate number P05131.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

26 June 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Ak 1R A M HL At 4 vl WK R

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #( % —F—JUE=H =+ —H L4

2019 2018
B S 1 S T\
Note HK$’000 HKS$’000
(i Tt T
REVENUE We2s 6 393,487 264,451
Cost of revenue Wi A (137,876) (83,303)
GROSS PROFIT EH 255,611 181,148
Other revenue and other net income/(loss) HoAh i 25 K HAb YR A (518 13 % 7 7,484 565
Selling and distribution expenses S K436 BE S (67,553) (49,566)
Administrative expenses FTIECBE (220,036) (168,864)
Share of profit of an associate R AR 25 2 ) i ) 19 3,400 -
Equity-settled share-based payments DUBCHESS 55 DUy ST 2 B =2 (37,007) (29,290)
Fair value change of an investment property BEYZENTE 16 752 -
Fair value change of contingent o R AT A A (B 5 )
consideration payables 27 23,049 (9,264)
Fair value change of promissory notes payable — JEA 7K 5, 2248 /- (H 5 ) 29(a) 7,007 (447)
Fair value change of convertible bonds ] AR N A S 28(a) 47,768 (57,764)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS R, () 20,475 (133,482)
Finance costs T & AR 8(c) (20,968) (8,574)
LOSS BEFORE TAXATION o5 i M 4 8 (493) (142,056)
Taxation i 11 (10,218) (2,692)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR AR i 18 (10,711) (144,748)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hoft 2w (k548) e
(LOSS)/INCOME
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to 7 REBEZ BB BB 2 HE -
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of H B A ST BB HR R IR 1Y
financial statements of foreign operations [iFE 58, 25 BH 329) 670
Release of translation reserve upon deregistration i ¥ J& 2\ ] 1 13- 1 R i B
of subsidiaries i (151) -
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/ A At 2 (R 4R) W ak
INCOME FOR THE YEAR (480) 670
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR AP A 42 TH s 1 48
THE YEAR (11,191) (144,078)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

f 1 1R A B HL At 4 vl WAL £ A

For the year ended 31 March 2019 # % — & —JUFE=H =+ —H (L4 B

2019 2018
—F N S\
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
(i Tt THETT
Loss for the year attributable to: DL AL REA 4R N 1 -
Owners of the Company A FHEA N (4,344) (139,217)
Non-controlling interests FEVRE ML HE £ (6,367) (5,531)
(10,711) (144,748)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to: VLR N M A 2 v s 4 R -
Owners of the Company ARA A N (4,804) (138,797)
Non-controlling interests FEVE M HE £ (6,387) (5,281)
(11,191) (144,078)
Loss per share attributable to AT A N AL A
owners of the Company for the year BB s 18 (43 e A1)
(expressed in HK cents per share)
— basic YN 13(a) 0.2) (6.6)
— diluted W 13(b) 0.2) (6.6)
The notes on pages 86 to 275 form an integral part of these financial statements. SOE FAE2TS E MM 2 B A AT R R 1 — 4y o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

o I IR DL

As at 31 March 2019 JA ~ZF—JU4EF=H =+—H

2019 2018
R T UE
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
R 5t T-H#oT THsT

Non-current assets I &
Property, plant and equipment W - RE st 15 91,764 121,672
Investment property &Y 16 8,130 -
Interest in an associate A [ 2 B R 25 19 73,400 -
Intangible assets SR G 17 211,702 206,166
Goodwill [k 18 199,879 177,496
Prepayments and deposits TEAT 3E Fe i 4 21 5,369 2,932
590,244 508,266

Current assets WA &
Inventories ety 20 29,065 22,091
Trade and other receivables TRE A B 3 Bz LAt B A sk TE 21 107,519 80,000
Cash and cash equivalents B B E 22(a) 65,497 158,913
Tax recoverable ] A | T 105 508
202,186 261,512
Current liabilities B AR

Trade and other payables JREAST B 3 S Al A} 3 T 23 77,604 34,026
Bank borrowings SRITAE K 26 39,056 28,119
Contract liabilities BHIAafE 24 1,675 =
Convertible bonds QEYidies 28 262,001 =
Contingent consideration payables B IR JEAHCAE 27 37,878 59,169
Promissory notes payable JEA} 7K i B 29 9,966 1,491
Refund liabilities A 30 1,394 -
Provisions T 31 = 1,007
Tax payable JEAS B IE 6,058 327
435,632 124,139
Net current (liabilities)/assets FoiE (A1) EE (233,446) 137,373
Total assets less current liabilities AR A i By 1 A 356,798 645,639

Non-current liabilities JEF A
Contingent consideration payables BRI CAE 27 47,692 118,350
Promissory notes payable TEA 7K i B 29 37,543 9,087
Other borrowings HAh 3K 26 26,500 5,500
Convertible bonds T i fE 28 = 310,510
Amounts due to non-controlling interests JREAST I P22 JBEE 25 X T 25 1,227 1,242
Deferred tax liabilities R SE T £ K 32 36,316 34,215
149,278 478,904
Net assets %A 207,520 166,735
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

f B B B 5IR e e

As at 31 March 2019 R —F—hLHFE=H=+—H

2019 2018
SEE CE AR
Note HK$°000 HK$°000
B T THsT
EQUITY RE2E

Equity attributable to owners of the Company AN FHEA NG HE 5
Share capital A 33(b) 5,308 5,308
Reserves ettt 156,660 109,483
161,968 114,791
Non-controlling interests JEFEEME 2R 45,552 51,944
TOTAL EQUITY RE 5 4058 207,520 166,735

The consolidated financial statements on pages 86 to 275 were approved and

authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26 June 2019 and are signed on

its behalf by:

Wang Xihua

EViE

Director

A

The notes on pages 86 to 275 form an integral part of these financial statements.

82 Annual Report 2018/2019 4F#

H86 H 2275 H A A M iR —E— JLF
ANHIZASHERER G LR > ik

PR S e

Lai Wei Lam, William

AR

Director

R

586 E A EH275 EUIW M 51 B A W B e i — 43 -



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

A R 2%
f 0 HE % 52

LIF S

For the year ended 31 March 2019 # % — & — JUF = H =+ —H IL4F

Attributable to owners of the Company

AR MRS
Convertible
Share bonds Non-
Share Share ~ Merger  Statutory  Translation option equity  Accumulated controlling Total
capital ~ premium Teserve Teserve Teserve reserve reserve losses Total  interests Equity
il 74 T HRf Hil
Ttk il AR il HARE RRERE SEERE 2B it [
HES'000  HES'000  HES'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HESO00  HESOM0  HESOM0  HESON0  HES'O0
Tt Tt TEr Tt T T T T T T T
(note 33 (note 33 (note 33 (note 33 (note 33 (note 33
@0 (i) (c)iv) (c))) i) (o))
L TNE 3 O O 1 T4 1 A
(e)i)) (c)ii)) (c)(iv)) ©w) ) (i)
At] Apil 2017 RF—tERA-H 580 14888 (10) ) (692) - - 404 1380 2364
Changes in equity for 2018: ZF-VERESE
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - - SIAY 0GR (4
Other comprehensive income: Hbamid
Exchange differences on trnslation e
of financial staemens of Briscke)
foreign operations Eig = = = - 40 - - - 490 0 670
Total comptehensiv loss for the year ERAHERLH - - - 5 3] s S G (1440
Fouity-setfed share-based payments DR RURR LI AL - - - - - M e - DM - O
Non-controling ineress arising on A B f AR (s
business combinations (note 35) - - - - - - - - - 55,045 55,045
Sharesisted upon conversion of RETRRERETR
convertblebonds (note 33(b)i) (B30 i) 20w = 5 s s s N VA N VA
At31 March 2018 and | Apil 2018 RoF-E=A=1-HR
“F-)\FRA-H 5308 161,116 (10) 46 @ M - (BL103) 1471 SI9M 166735
Tmpact on iniia application of HKFRS 9 ERER R e e = = = = = = = (842) (842) o (842)
Impact on initial application of HKFRS 15 N s
Risshye - - - - - - - m b - m
Adjusted belance at 1 April 2018 gyl frie 5308 161,116 (10) 462 @ M - fny 141 5194 166107
Changes in equity for 2019: sy iyl B
Loss forthe year ERER = = - - - = = (4,344) (4,344) (6,367 (10,711)
Other comprehensive loss: K2kt
Exchange differences on translation BANEEE
of financialstaemens of BrikckR
foreign operatons Eizg - - - - (309) - - = (309) 20) (329
Release of translation reserve upon deregisrationof A b TR AR 0k
subsidiaries il - - - - (151) - - - (151) - (151)
Totalcomprehensiveloss for the year LE e - = = = (460 - U T N 1T '/ (1 AU/}
Equity-setfled share-based payments DR AURE LI L - - - - - - - ]
Share optons lapsed BRI - - - - - () - um = = =
Recognition of equity component of comvertble bonds, TGk bk B 10+
netof related transaction costs TRREL SR - - - - - - 15,392 - 15,392 - 15,592
Disposal of asubsidiary (note 37(b)) e A (5370 - - - - - - - - - () ()
At31 March 2019 REE-NEZAZA-1 538 161116 (10) 462 M) M3 BB (M 16968 s W

The notes on pages 86 to 275 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
AT BB R

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #% ~F—JJUF = H =+ —H IL4F

2019 2018
RN TE— )\
Note HK$°000 HK$°000
i R THsoT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES Y-
Loss before taxation R i e 4R (493) (142,056)
Adjustments for: LA & JH P AR R
Finance costs T AR 8(¢c) 20,968 8,574
Write-down of inventories oA & 20(b) 1,950 9,773
Reversal of write-down of inventories O AT B3 0] 20(b) (1,854) (4,557)
Share of profit of an associate JREAG BB 2 ) ik 19 (3,400) -
Depreciation on property, plant and W3 - WS KT
equipment 15 8,785 6,950
Amortisation of intangible assets STV 7 17 7,203 6,102
Impairment loss of trade receivables JRE AT B Ui e 4 8(b) 1,875 -
Bank interest income SRATHALSMA 7 (20) (21)
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries HR B R A D 4 A g YR 7 (4,090) -
Net loss on disposal of property, HEWE - BUE RN
plant and equipment I 15 i 7 1,256 169
Fair value change of an investment property OGN T 16 (752) -
Fair value change of convertible bonds R IR SR A HAEE) 28(a) (47,768) 57,764
Fair value change of contingent AR EATACAE T A2 )
consideration payables 27 (23,049) 9,264
Fair value change of promissory JREASH 7 5, SR T (L 5 1
notes payable 29(a) (7,007) 447
Equity-settled share-based payments DARRRE &5 53 LU 003 S A 2 B =2 8(a) 37,007 29,290
Transaction costs arising from AT RS S E L 2
the issuance of convertible bonds T AR 28(a) = 15,026
Provisions for goods return BB 31 - 609
(9,389) (2,666)
Changes in working capital HEESEE)
Increase in inventories FEHm 3,477) (124)
Increase in trade and other receivables JARE A P i e L A JRE WA T 38 o (30,650) (12,601)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and R ASF iR K S L At B A5 3 T
other payables () 23,366 (403)
Increase in contract liabilities BB ER 1,067 -
Increase in refund liabilities AR 387 -
(Decrease)/increase in amounts due to JREAST I P22 IR 25 A (b ), 8
non-controlling interests (19) 42
Utilisation of provisions for goods return B R A 31 - (947)
CASH USED IN OPERATIONS R R SR B B 4 (18,715) (16,699)
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded R FI 580 296 680
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid C A RSB (4,248) (5.578)
The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) TR 3 A\ R LA ([ |) i3
Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) refunded PR AL ([ ) 35 7
PRC EIT paid 40 I A 3 A (289) (190)
Net cash used in operating activities FH A 5878 26 05 W B 4 v A (22,921) (21,780)

84

Annual Report 2018/2019 4§t



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

maBleiiag®

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #( % ~ & —JJUFE=H =+ —H IL4FE

2019 2018
—ER—NE e Sy
Note HK$°000 HK$°000
(! R FHsoo
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BEES)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment WEE W2 ~ B SOt 15 (6,030) (5,452)
Proceeds from sale of property, W -~ RS KR
plant and equipment EEE e 96 351
Partial consideration paid for RS AR EZ
investment in an associate ST A (55,000) =
Bank interest received B IR T FILE 7 20 21
Consideration received for disposal of B s | ) E A AE
subsidiaries 37 31,007 S
Transaction costs paid for disposal of HEREARNCAZ S
subsidiaries AR 37 (921) =
Net cash outflow from business combinations,  F75 & DF 2 Bl 43 HIF %8 -
net of cash acquired FNBR BT A5 Bl 4 35 (38,069) (115,861)
Net cash outflow from acquisition of assets 75 T O R R WA T O
through acquisition of subsidiaries Z B4 R 36 (7,465) (61,000)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING JEITA 45 0 1 A B < 4

ACTIVITIES (76,362) (181,941)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES il 45 B

Repayment of bank borrowings TEIRSRAT K (3,102) (7,813)

Proceeds from new bank borrowings HERAT 18 BRI A5 A 14,000 5,367

Proceeds from other new borrowings F At I 5 2 21,000 5,500

Interest paid EATFLE (18,817) (1,283)

Repayment of promissory notes payable IR AT 7 S0 S (20,000) =

Proceeds from issuance of convertible bonds, BEAT AR AR R AR K

net of transaction costs bR 2E 5 WA 103,184 249,974

Repurchase of convertible bonds [ T R A 2 (90,000) -

NET CASH GENERATED FROM 2 il Y ) Y B R
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 6,265 251,745
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH Bl R BLeE Y (L),

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS B 0 (93,018) 48,024
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [ 23R 58 o 114 5 28 (437) 671
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AR R B B4 T B4 )

AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 158,913 110,218
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ERIBLE TR B a S

AT END OF YEAR 22(b) 65,458 158,913

The notes on pages 86 to 275 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao Fr B 5 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #% ~F—JJUF = H =+ —H IL4F

86

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated and domiciled in the Cayman Islands under the Companies
Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands as an exempted company with limited liability on 5 December 2011.
The address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The Company has
established a principal place of business in Hong Kong at Unit A, 12/F,
Guangdong Investment Tower, 148 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong
and has been registered as a non-Hong Kong company under the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance on 5 April 2012. The Company’s issued shares have
been listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) since 11 October 2013. On 20 November 2015, the
listing of the shares of the Company has been transferred from the GEM to
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (the “Transfer of Listing”).

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in the sale,
marketing and distribution of health and beauty supplements and products in
Hong Kong and the PRC, provision of online advertising agency business,
online payment business, e-commerce promotion business and game

distribution business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

% B B 5 e A W R

For the year ended 31 March 2019 # % — & — JUF = H =+ —H IL4F

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all
applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”),
which collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). Significant accounting policies

adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs which
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides information on any
changes in accounting policies resulting from the initial application
of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these
financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2019 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries and the Group’s
interest in an associate.

Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the
Group are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”), rounded to the nearest thousand except for per share
data. HKS is the Company’s functional and the Group’s presentation
currency.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except for investment property,
contingent consideration payables, promissory notes payable
designated at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) and
convertible bonds designated at FVTPL which are stated at their fair
value as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

2. EEGEECR

(a)

(b)

B R

N E S e PR TS S R W TR/
([ A & st B2 8 1) M4 /Y r A
T s B TS e A 4 R (T 7 s B s i 4t
AR ]) (CBLFE T A 38 7 0 4 Al & vt
B ME R~ s e wh R (] A5 o
FRPHER ) KR REE AR e
Ji R At NI A A Um0 7 0
HUE o AR PAH IR INESF & W5 22
Vgl e /N E o s L B o 7
B 1) 1 208 R 48 R S o ASSE T ER A 1Y
FEEFIBORN T U % -

AU wH o OO TR T R A8
(CHER T S IR L )S
A5 BT S T o A A
PR BRAA o B RE3 52 AL BT YR T b
AT % R T 5 B0 RHEUR 2 A5 B)
AR ZER > 2 RN A I L A
T T30 [H] 35 A 42 1 1 5 4 B I
A A R P R

S 2 e i i AR

WE =B NFZA S+ —HILFEE
2 A BB R AL A ) B
Ji 2 7 A S e — T 4 L R

sS4
fm. °©

%A$E@%EWW%$%ZQBH
o i % BT MR AR T AE 2 E AR
2B ([haeE W )t - %%&ﬁ
1R5h > ZE B IRER LI T ([ )
250 AU A T8 Wtk
AAT 2 AW RAEE 2 2I K
W o

A B E S AR I P YRR S AR
ASFEHE R SCHI 2 B BRI
BEY - SORBAHUE - IEEEA
EFT AR AT ([HEAPEFH AR )
11 B A 2R S S e i o HR A P{ERFA
H 5 19 AT SRR IR BR L
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao Fr B 5 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #% ~F—JJUF = H =+ —H IL4F

2,

88

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(Continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs that
have a significant effect on the financial statements and key sources of
estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 5.

Going concern

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had net current liabilities of
HK$233,446,000. This condition indicates the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and therefore, the Group may not be able
to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of
business.

In view of such circumstance, the directors of the Company have
given careful consideration to the future liquidity and performance
of the Group and its available sources of financing in assessing
whether the Group will have sufficient funds to fulfill its obligations
to continue as a going concern. Certain measures have been taken
to improve the Group’s financial position and alleviate its liquidity
pressure, which include, but are not limited to, the following:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 5 i A Pl R

For the year ended 31 March 2019 # % — & — JUF = H =+ —H IL4F

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(Continued)

Going concern (Continued)

®

(i)

(iii)

As at 31 March 2019, included in the current liabilities of the
Group was the liability component of convertible bonds issued
on 13 February 2019 of HK$89,259,000. The holders of the
convertible bonds have the right to convert the convertible
bonds into ordinary shares of the Company up to the maturity
date of the convertible bonds but the holders do not have the
option to require the Company to redeem the convertible bonds
except for the occurrence of any events of default in which the
Directors consider that the occurrence of any events of defaults
is very remote. Therefore, these convertible bonds shall not in
itself result in any cash outflow for the Group in the coming
twelve months;

On 25 April 2019, the Company entered into a placing
agreement (the “Placing Agreement”) with Kilmorey
Securities Limited, the placing agent, to procure not less than
six placees who are independent third parties to subscribe up to
58,000,000 placing shares at the placing price of HK$0.4275
per placing share (the “Placing”). Pursuant to the Company’s
announcement dated 20 May 2019, all conditions of the
Placing Agreement fulfilled. The Placing was completed on
20 May 2019 and 23,391,813 placing shares were successfully
placed by the placing agent to not less than six placees and the
Company raised HK$9,780,000 (net of directly attributable
expenses of HK$220,000);

On 21 June 2019, the Company entered into a loan facility
agreement with an affiliate of a financial institution
(the “Lender”), an independent third party, pursuant to
which the Lender agreed to provide an unsecured loan of
HK$180,000,000 with fixed interest rate at 11% per annum to
the Company exclusively for the settlement of the convertible
bonds which will mature on 12 October 2019. If the loan
facility is drawn down, the loan will be repayable after twelve
months from the drawdown date; and
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90

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

()

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

(Continued)

Going concern (Continued)

(iv) The Group is actively looking for additional sources of
financing to enhance its financial position and support the plans
to expand its operations.

Taking into account of the measures above and the arrangements
implemented to date, the Directors are of the view that the Group
has sufficient cash resources to satisfy its working capital and other
financial obligations for the next twelve months from 31 March 2019.
Accordingly, the Directors are of the view that it is appropriate to
prepare these consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue to operate as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to restate the value of assets to
their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which
might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities. The effects of these
potential adjustments have not been reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls
an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing whether the Group
has power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and other

parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions and cash
flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the

extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #( % ~ & —JJUFE=H =+ —H IL4FE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(c)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)
Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not
attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect of
which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the holders
of those interests which would result in the Group as a whole having
a contractual obligation in respect of those interests that meets the
definition of a financial liability.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position within equity, separately from equity attributable
to the owners of the Company. Non-controlling interests in the results
of the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of
the total profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year
between non-controlling interests and the owners of the Company.
Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if
this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
Loans from holders of non-controlling interests and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are presented as financial liabilities
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in
a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions, whereby
adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling and non-
controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the change
in the relative interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and
no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as
a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained
in that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset or, when appropriate, the cost on initial

recognition of an investment in an associate or joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in a
subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 2(1)(ii)),
unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a
disposal group that is classified as held for sale).
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2,

Q2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(d)

Associate

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company has
significant influence, but not control or joint control, over its
management, including participation in the financial and operating

policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements under the equity method, unless it is classified
as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as
held for sale). Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share of the
acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s identifiable net assets
over the cost of the investment (if any). The cost of the investment
includes purchase price, other costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the investment, and any direct investment into the
associate that forms part of the Group’s equity investment. Thereafter,
the investment is adjusted for the post acquisition change in the
Group’s share of the investee’s net assets and any impairment loss
relating to the investment (see note 2(1)(ii)). Any acquisition-date
excess over cost, the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax
results of the investees and any impairment losses for the year are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, whereas the
Group’s share of the post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’
other comprehensive income is recognised in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the associate,
the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses
is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying amount
of the investment under the equity method together with the Group’s
long-term interests that in substance form part of the Group’s net

investment in the associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(d)

Associate (Continued)

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between the
Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the investee, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the
investment continues to be accounted for under the equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have significant influence
over an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit
or loss. Any interest retained in that former investee at the date when
significant influence is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount
is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related
to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured
in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19
Employee Benefits respectively;

. liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured
in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the

acquisition date; and

. assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with
that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date.
If, after re-assessment, the net amount of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in
the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or
loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e)

Business combinations (Continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured either at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets or at fair value. The choice of measurement basis is made on
a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling

interests are measured at their fair value.

Where the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement
(including the contingent consideration payables and promissory
notes payable designated at FVTPL), the contingent consideration is
measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the
consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in the
fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement
period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one
year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that

existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration that
do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on how
the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration
that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting
dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability
is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with the

corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e)

()

(g)

Business combinations (Continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss or other comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that
have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income and
measured under HKFRS 9/HKAS 39 would be accounted for on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had disposed directly of

the previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete
by the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
retrospectively during the measurement period (see above),
and additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at
the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts

recognised at that date.

Acquisition of a subsidiary not constituting a business

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do
not constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises the
individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by
allocating the purchase price first to investment property which is
subsequently measured under fair value model and the financial assets
and financial liabilities at the respective fair values, the remaining
balance of the purchase price is then allocated to the other identifiable
assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the
date of purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or

bargain purchase gain.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less any accumulated

depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses (see
note 2(1)(ii)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

% B S 5 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2019 # % — & — JUE = H =+ —H IF4EE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(2

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment, less their estimated residual value, if any, using

the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

— leasehold land classified as held under finance leases is

depreciated over the unexpired term of lease.

— buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated over the
shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their estimated
useful lives, being no more than 50 years after the date of
completion.

= Leasehold improvements 20%-33% per annum or over

the lease term, if shorter

— Plant and machinery 30%-33% per annum

— Furniture, fixtures and 20%-33% per annum
equipment
— Motor vehicles 20%-30% per annum
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a reasonable
basis between the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both

the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed

annually.

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items. Cost may also include transfers from
equity of any gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign

currency purchases of property, plant and equipment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(2

(h)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The
carrying amount of any component accounted for as a separate asset
is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised in profit or loss during the reporting period in which they

are incurred.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its

estimated recoverable amount.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item
of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference
between the net proceeds on disposal and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or

disposal.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned or
held under a leasehold interest (see note 2(k)) to earn rental income
and/or for capital appreciation. These include land held for a currently
undetermined future use and property that is being constructed or

developed for future use as investment property.

Investment properties are stated at fair value, unless they are still in
the course of construction or development at the end of the reporting
period and their fair value cannot be reliably measured at that time.
Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value or from the
retirement or disposal of an investment property is recognised in
profit or loss. Rental income from investment properties is accounted

for as described in note 2(aa).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

% B S 5 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #( % ~ & —JJUFE=H =+ —H IL4FE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h)

(@

Investment properties (Continued)

When the Group holds a property interest under an operating lease
to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, the interest is
classified and accounted for as an investment property on a property-
by-property basis. Any such property interest which has been
classified as an investment property is accounted for as if it were
held under a finance lease (see note 2(k)), and the same accounting
policies are applied to that interest as are applied to other investment
properties leased under finance leases. Lease payments are accounted

for as described in note 2(k).

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately
are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated

impairment losses.

The following intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised
from the date they are available for use and their estimated useful
lives are as follows:

— Product development rights 7 years
Internally-generated intangible assets — research and
development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the

period in which it is incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(@

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)
Internally-generated intangible assets — research and
development expenditure (Continued)

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development
activities (or from the development phase of an internal project)
is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been
demonstrated:

—  the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale;

— the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

— the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

—  how the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits;

—  the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell the
intangible asset; and

—  the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to
the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible
assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when
the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above.
Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible
assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets
that are acquired separately.

Intangible assets acquired in business combinations

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognised
separately from goodwill and are initially recognised at their fair
value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the
same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately. Intangible
assets acquired in a business combination with indefinite useful
lives are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment
losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

% B S 5 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2019 # % — & — JUE = H =+ —H IF4EE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(i) Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)
Intangible assets acquired in business combinations (Continued)

Customer relationship

Customer relationship acquired in a business combination
are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Customer
relationship has a finite useful life and are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the
straight-line method of 5 years over the expected life of the

customer relationship.

Brand name

Brand name acquired in a business combination are recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. Brand name has a
finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line

method of 5 years over the expected life of the brand name.

Sales distribution channel

Sales distribution channel acquired in a business combination
are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Sales
distribution channel has a finite useful life and are carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated
using the straight-line method of 5 years over the expected life

of the sales distribution channel.

Licensing agreements

Licensing agreements acquired in the business combinations
represent (i) the licensing agreement with finite useful life in
respect of the rights to deal with gd.qq.com as the exclusive
and sole advertising agency in Hong Kong for the operation
of the online advertising agency business and (ii) the licensing
agreement with indefinite life for authorising the Group to be
one of the online payment service providers in Hong Kong for

the operation of online payment business.

The licensing agreement with finite useful life acquired in
a business combination is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date and is subsequently carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using
the straight-line method over the expected life of the licensing

agreement.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(i) Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)
Intangible assets acquired in business combinations (Continued)

Licensing agreements (Continued)

During the year, the Group reviewed the estimated useful
lives of intangible assets and changed the useful lives of
the licensing agreement in respect of the rights to deal with
gd.qq.com as the exclusive and sole advertising agency in
Hong Kong for the operation of the online advertising agency
business from 6 years to 15 years following the extension of
the contracted period stipulated in a supplemental agreement.
The effect of such changes in accounting estimates is set out in
note 17.

The licensing agreement with indefinite life acquired in
a business combination is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date and is subsequently carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Since the licensing agreement
is automatically renewed without any cost to be incurred, the
management considered that the Group has control over the
intangible assets with indefinite life and has no foreseeable
limit to the period over which the Group can use to generate net
cash flows. As a result, this licensing agreement is considered
by the management of the Group as having an indefinite useful
life because they are expected to contribute to net cash inflows
indefinitely. The licensing agreement with indefinite life will
not be amortised until their useful lives are determined to be
finite. Instead they will be tested for impairment annually and
whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 # % — & — JUF = H =+ —H IL4F

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(@

0

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

Club membership

Club membership with indefinite useful life is stated at cost less any
impairment losses. Impairment is reviewed annually or when there is
any indication that the club membership has suffered an impairment

loss.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its

estimated recoverable amount.

Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains and
losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is

derecognised.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as
established at the date of acquisition of the business less accumulated

impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the lowest level at which the goodwill
is monitored for internal management purposes and not larger than an

operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently whenever there is indication that the unit may be impaired.
For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that
reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group of

cash-generating units).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

@

(k)

Goodwill (Continued)

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of the cash-
generating unit within the group of cash-generating units, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of
the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes
of an operation within the cash-generating unit (or a cash-generating
unit within a group of cash-generating units), the amount of goodwill
disposed of is measured on the basis of the relative values of the
operation (or the cash-generating unit) disposed of and the portion
of the cash-generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units)

retained.

Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of transactions,
is or contains a lease if the Group determines that the arrangement
conveys a right to use a specific asset or assets for an agreed period
of time in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such a
determination is made based on an evaluation of the substance of the
arrangement and is regardless of whether the arrangement takes the

legal form of a lease.

(i)  Classification of assets leased to the Group
Assets held by the Group under leases which transfer to the
Group substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
classified as being held under finance leases. Leases which do
not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to the Group are classified as operating leases, with the

following exceptions:

—  property held under operating leases that would
otherwise meet the definition of an investment property
is classified as an investment property on a property-by-
property basis and, if classified as investment property,
is accounted for as if held under a finance lease (see note
2(h)); and
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 # % — & — JUE = H =+ —H IF4EE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(k) Leased assets (Continued)

@)

(ii)

Classification of assets leased to the Group (Continued)

—  land held for own use under an operating lease, the
fair value of which cannot be measured separately
from the fair value of a building situated thereon at the
inception of the lease, is accounted for as being held
under a finance lease, unless the building is also clearly
held under an operating lease. For these purposes, the
inception of the lease is the time that the lease was
first entered into by the Group, or taken over from the

previous lessee.

Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under finance
leases, the amounts representing the fair value of the leased
asset, or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease
payments, of such assets are recognised as property, plant and
equipment and the corresponding liabilities, net of finance
charges, are recorded as obligations under finance leases.
Depreciation is provided at rates which write off the cost of the
assets over the term of the relevant lease or, where it is likely
the Group will obtain ownership of the asset, the life of the
asset, as set out in note 2(g). Impairment losses are accounted
for in accordance with the accounting policy as set out in note
2(1)(ii). Finance charges implicit in the lease payments are
charged to profit or loss over the period of the leases so as to
produce an approximately constant periodic rate of charge on
the remaining balance of the obligations for each accounting

period.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #% ~F—JJUF = H =+ —H IL4F

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
(k) Leased assets (Continued)

(iii)  Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under operating
leases, payments made under the leases are charged to profit or
loss in equal instalments over the accounting periods covered
by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the
leased asset. Lease incentives received are recognised in profit
or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rentals are charged as expenses in the

accounting period in which they are incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease is
amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease

term except when the property is classified as an investment

property (see note 2(h)).

(iv) Leasehold land and buildings

When the Group makes payments for a property interest which
includes both leasehold land and building elements, the Group
assesses the classification of each element separately based
on the assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of each element have been
transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that both elements are
operating leases in which case the entire property is accounted
as an operating lease. Specifically, the entire consideration
(including any lump sum upfront payments) are allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold interests

in the land element and building element at initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

% B S 5 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2019 # % — & — JUE = H =+ —H IF4EE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(k) Leased assets (Continued)
(iv) Leasehold land and buildings (Continued)

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for
as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments”
in the consolidated statement of financial position and is
amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis except
for those that are classified and accounted for as investment
property under the fair value model. When the payments cannot
be allocated reliably between the leasehold land and building
elements, the entire property is generally classified as if the
leasehold land is under finance lease.

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(i)  Credit losses from financial instruments
(a)  Policy applicable from 1 April 2018

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit loss (“ECL”) on the financial assets measured at
amortised cost (including cash and cash equivalents and
trade and other receivables).

Financial assets measured at fair value are not subject to
the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of
all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between
the cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)

M

(®)

(a)

Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following discount rates where the effect of discounting
is material:

— fixed-rate financial assets and trade and other
receivables: effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition or an approximation thereof;
and

— variable-rate financial assets: current effective
interest rate.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs
is the maximum contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

—  12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from possible default events within the
12 months after the reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over
the expected lives of the items to which the ECL
model applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok B B 55 e B ik

For the year ended 31 March 2019 # % — & — JUE = H =+ —H IF4EE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs
on these financial assets are estimated using a provision
matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors and an assessment of both the current and
forecast general economic conditions at the reporting
date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises
a loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there
has been a significant increase in credit risk of the
financial instrument since initial recognition, in which
case the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the
reporting date with that assessed at the date of initial
recognition. In making this reassessment, the Group
considers that a default event occurs when (i) the
borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to
the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to
actions such as realising security (if any is held); or
(ii) the financial asset is 90 days past due. The Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #% ~F—JJUF = H =+ —H IL4F
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)

M

(®)

(a)

Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)
In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

—  failure to make payments of principal or interest
on their contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in
a financial instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

—  existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have
a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability
to meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective
basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective
basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due status
and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount
is recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 5 i A Pl R

For the year ended 31 March 2019 # % — & — JUF = H =+ —H IL4F

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 (Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with
note 2(aa) is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a
financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

—  significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or

delinquency in interest or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
into bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

—  significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor; or

—  the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao Fr B 5 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #% ~F—JJUF = H =+ —H IL4F

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)  Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

(b)

12

Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 (Continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written
off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is
no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the
case when the Group determines that the debtor does
not have assets or sources of income that could generate
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the
write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in

profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.

Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2018

Prior to 1 April 2018, an “incurred loss” model was used
to measure impairment losses on financial assets not
classified as at FVTPL (e.g. trade and other receivables).
Under the “incurred loss” model, an impairment loss
was recognised only when there was objective evidence
of impairment. Objective evidence of impairment

included:

—  significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok B B 55 e B ik

For the year ended 31 March 2019 # % — & — JUE = H =+ —H IF4EE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEGGIBUR (M)

(CONTINUED)
() Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued) 0 fEEEEREEME ()
(i)  Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued) () HHELAZEFEES ()
(b)  Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2018 (Continued) b)) B —NFEH—H
Hi ] 2 BOH (#)
— it becoming probable that the debtor will enter — EHAH TR E
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; and Bl AT o Ath B &
M K
— significant changes in the technological, market, — T~ Ty R
economic or legal environment that have an R AIRERE KR
adverse effect on the debtor. BE) BB N

If any such evidence exists, impairment loss was
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition of these assets), where
the effect of discounting was material. This assessment
was made collectively where these financial assets
share similar risk characteristics, such as similar past
due status, and had not been individually assessed as
impaired. Future cash flows for financial assets which
were assessed for impairment collectively were based
on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk
characteristics similar to the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment
loss decreased and the decrease could be linked
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised, the impairment loss was reversed
through profit or loss. A reversal of an impairment loss
was only recognised to the extent that it did not result in
the asset’s carrying amount exceeding that which would
have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years.

Kyl %

WA AE A Ao R > WM
Jie 45 75 AR 9 E R T (E
BRL 2 B 5 DR R R
2 (B R% 45 % R U
RRIRF R A0 B R A )
BT 0 OR 2R B O R B
HOEMBRBBLER
) B 28 B AH ST o i 1%
80 G AR B R ) B S
JEE LA AL Y J B e
(45 En AL 2 91 195 D e Al
R B9 B A 2 B
{H) o Hdbss B g —
HEAT FFAG o 4R BB AT A
(B FA) J 5 7 9 R AR B
& U DL E 8RB R R
BEL A 42 11 3 0L 1 O O
TERYIRRAF UL e

il 7 4% 400 ] 9 (L o 4R
SHAPWD - B
- B e R ek D s 1R 1%
R AR o A B
{60 s 15 & % 18 48 48 1) -
i W Bok (L s 1 Y9 43 [m] 2
FR A A & BOE = R
T (L 768 JFC A 2 18 4F
7 40 i A ] 98 (L MG 4R
LT iR o E F) 238

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JEBE BB () AR 113



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ S 5 i A Bl R

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #% ~F—JJUF = H =+ —H IL4F
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

M

@)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)

(b)

Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2018 (Continued)

When the recovery of a trade debtor or other financial
assets carried at amortised cost was considered doubtful
but not remote, associated impairment losses were
recorded using an allowance account. When the Group
was satisfied that recovery was remote, the amount
considered irrecoverable was written off against
the gross carrying amount of those assets directly.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously charged
to the allowance account were reversed against the
allowance account. Other changes in the allowance
account and subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off directly were recognised in profit
or loss.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or, except in the case of
goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

property, plant and equipment;

intangible assets;

goodwill;

interest in an associate; and

investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement
of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, intangible assets that
are not yet available for use and intangible assets that have
indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated
annually whether or not there is any indication of impairment.

Annual Report 2018/2019 4%

2.

FEFRHBOR (A7)
1 B e 1R B 7 AR A ()

M

i)

(ii)

MBE TR RER (A1)

b)) WBZFE—/NENH—H
Fi 8 .2 B (A7)
B B SR A S
AR A B B
4 s [ P R A A B H
A I W] HE PR MR SRR > AH
I 90 M 4 0 T 488 A i
AL Bk o A% 4R A A i el
IR Y W] R T L R
AR A AT i fe] Y < A
SHB %S5 Y P AR T
{E L HE A o AR il
ST R A B
o Ty MAIRSEE I o
S AR DR o ) A 5 ) %
SFCAR i Im] S T L 45
1 5 BRAE 1R i R RD

T B 5 14 9

A1 8 B 18 S A AR AR T A 45 ik
R T LA > DA T 51
% W] e H B R (E B (R R
9ME%E@”%W@EET
THFIE S AT BECL IR D RO 5

— W RS R
—  IEEEE

— M

5

!

— R —HEEA
%> &

GIRR::

— A F B AU R
W@~ R BE -

i R BUEATRZSF BE 5 - JIl & A
R 2 A ml SR o B4
CINE PG I R 3
FE T A AR BR AF U ) TR 8 E 1T
H o A o] R A AR AR A
it DA S 2 77t BLAT o] 36k (L
.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok B B 55 e B ik

For the year ended 31 March 2019 # % — & — JUE = H =+ —H IF4EE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group of
assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e., a cash-

generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss whenever
the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit to
which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash-generating unit (or group of units) and
then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the
unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the
carrying amount of an asset will not be reduced below its
individual fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable) or

value in use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss

in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in

which the reversals are recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

M

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(iti)  Interim financial reporting and impairment
Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to prepare an
interim financial report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim
Financial Reporting, in respect of the first six months of the
financial year. At the end of the interim period, the Group
applies the same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial year (see notes

2(1)(i) and (ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect of
goodwill carried at cost are not reversed in a subsequent period.
This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have
been recognised had the impairment been assessed only at the

end of the financial year to which the interim period relates.

(m) Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the ordinary course of
business, in the process of production for such sale or in the form of
materials or supplies to be consumed in the production process or in

the rendering of services.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out method and comprises
all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in

bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the

estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories
is recognised as an expense in the period in which the related revenue
is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an
expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount
of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the

period in which the reversal occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(n)

(o)

(p)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration is
unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment
of that consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised before the
Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount

is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest

method less allowance for credit losses (see note 2(1)(i)).
Right-of-return assets (applicable from 1 April 2018)

A right-of-return asset represents the Group’s right to recover the
goods expected to be returned by customers. The asset is measured
at the former carrying amount of the goods to be returned, less
any expected costs to recover the goods, including any potential
decreases in the value of the returned goods. The Group updates the
measurement of the asset recorded for any revisions to its expected
level of returns, as well as any additional decreases in the value of the

returned goods.
Refund liabilities (applicable from 1 April 2018)

A refund liability is the obligation to refund some or all of the
consideration received (or receivable) from the customer and is
measured at the amount the Group ultimately expects it will have
to return to the customer. The Group updates its estimates of refund
liabilities (and the corresponding change in the transaction price) at

the end of each reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(q)

(r)

(s)

(t)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue (see
note 2(aa)). A contract liability would also be recognised if the
Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration before the
Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding

receivable would also be recognised (see note 2(n)).

For a single contract with the customer, a net contract liability is
presented. For multiple contracts, contract liabilities of unrelated

contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing component, the
contract balance includes interest accrued under the effective interest

method (see note 2(aa)).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value less
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. Interest expense is recognised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs

(see note 2(cc)).

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and are
subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting

would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Promissory notes payable measured at amortised costs

Promissory notes payable measured at amortised costs are initially
recognised at fair value and are subsequently stated at amortised
cost, using effective interest method. The related interest expense is

recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 # % — & — JUE = H =+ —H IF4EE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

()

)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management are also included
as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the
consolidated statement of cash flows. Cash and cash equivalent are
assessed for expected credit losses in accordance with the policy set
out in note 2(1)(i).

Convertible bonds
(i) Convertible bonds designated at FVTPL

Convertible bonds include a conversion option that will or may
not be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount
of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the
Company’s ordinary shares and accordingly the conversion
option does not meet the definition of an equity instrument.
Further, the convertible bonds include early redemption

options exercisable by the Company or the bondholders.

With these embedded derivatives that are not considered
related to the host debt component, management decided to
designate the convertible bonds as a whole as at financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss on initial
recognition. At the end of subsequent reporting periods, the
convertible bonds are measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise. Transaction costs relating to the issuance of

the convertible bonds is charged to profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(v) Convertible bonds (Continued)

(i)

Convertible bonds containing liability and equity components

The component parts of the convertible bonds issued by the
Group are classified separately as financial liabilities and
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument. A conversion option that will be settled by
the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial
asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity

instruments is an equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component
is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for
similar non-convertible instruments. This amount is recorded
as a liability on an amortised cost basis using the effective
interest method until extinguished upon conversion or at the

instrument’s maturity date.

The conversion option classified as equity is determined by
deducting the amount of the liability component from the
fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This is
recognised and included in equity (convertible bonds equity
reserve), net of income tax effects, and is not subsequently
remeasured. In addition, the conversion option classified as
equity will remain in equity until the conversion option is
exercised, in which case, the balance recognised in equity will
be transferred to share capital. Where the conversion option
remains unexercised at the maturity date of the convertible
bonds, the balance recognised in equity will be transferred to
retained earnings. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss

upon conversion or expiration of the conversion option.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #( % ~ & —JJUFE=H =+ —H IL4FE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(v) Convertible bonds (Continued)

(ii)

Convertible bonds containing liability and equity components
(Continued)

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
bonds are allocated to the liability and equity components in
proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction
costs relating to the equity component are charged directly to
equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability component
are included in the carrying amount of the liability portion and
amortised over the period of the convertible bonds using the

effective interest method.

(w) Employee benefits

@)

(i)

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where payment
or settlement is deferred and the effect would be material, these

amounts are stated at their present values.

Equity-settled share-based payments

Share options granted to eligible employees

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in share option reserve within equity. The fair value
is measured at grant date using the binomial lattice model,
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the
options were granted. Where the employees have to meet
vesting conditions before becoming unconditionally entitled
to the share options, the total estimated fair value of the share
options is spread over the vesting period, taking into account
the probability that the options will vest.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #% ~F—JJUF = H =+ —H IL4F

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
(w) Employee benefits (Continued)

(ii)  Equity-settled share-based payments (Continued)

Share options granted to eligible employees (Continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share options
expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged/
credited to the profit or loss for the year of the review, unless
the original employee expenses qualify for recognition as an
asset, with a corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as an expense
is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that
vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to not achieving
vesting conditions that relate to the market price of the
Company’s shares. When share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share option reserve will
be transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share option

reserve will be transferred to retained earnings.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of these benefits and

when it recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of

termination benefits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 # % — & — JUF = H =+ —H IL4F

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(x)

(y)

Equity-settled share-based payments for share options
granted to eligible participant other than employees

Share options issued in exchange for services are measured at the
fair values of the services received, unless that fair value cannot be
reliably measured, in which case the services received are measured
by reference to the fair value of the share options granted. The fair
values of the services received are recognised as expenses, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share option reserve), when the
counterparties render the services, unless the services qualify for

recognition as assets.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive

income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the
year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of

previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from

unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(y)

Income tax (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be
utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal of existing
taxable temporary differences, provided that those differences relate
to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse either in the same period as the expected reversal
of the deductible temporary differences or in periods into which a tax
loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward.
The same criteria are adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the recognition of deferred
tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a

period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from goodwill
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided
they are not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that,
in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the timing of the
reversal and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is

probable that they will reverse in the future.

Where investment property is carried at their fair value in accordance
with the accounting policy set out in note 2(h), the amount of deferred
tax recognised is measured using the tax rates that would apply on
sale of those assets at their carrying value at the reporting date unless
the property is depreciable and is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the property over time, rather than through sale. In
all other cases, the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax

assets and liabilities are not discounted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(y)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the
related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the
extent that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be

available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends
are recognised when the liability to pay the related dividends is

recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not offset.
Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and
deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or
the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the following additional conditions

are met:

—  in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company or
the Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the

asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

—  in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to

income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets and settle the
current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle

simultaneously.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(z)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

)

(i)

Contingent liabilities assumed in business combinations

Contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination
which are present obligations at the date of acquisition are
initially recognised at fair value, provided the fair value can be
reliably measured. After their initial recognition at fair value,
such contingent liabilities are recognised at the higher of the
amount initially recognised, less accumulated amortisation
where appropriate, and the amount that would be determined
in accordance with note 2(z)(ii). Contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination that cannot be reliably fair valued
or were not present obligations at the date of acquisition are

disclosed in accordance with note 2(z)(ii).

Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group or the Company
has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure
expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless
the probability of an outflow of economic benefits is remote.
Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of an outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(aa) Revenue recognition

(a)

Policy applicable from 1 April 2018

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group

expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it
is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is

subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group a
significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted
for the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(aa) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a)  Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

®

Sales of health and beauty supplements and products

Revenue from the sales of health and beauty
supplements and products is recognised at the point
in time when control of the asset is transferred to the
customer, generally on delivery of the goods. Revenue is
recognised after value added tax or other sales taxes and
is after deduction of any trade discounts and net of sales

return.

Some contracts for the sale of health and beauty
supplements and products provide customers with rights
of return and volume rebates. The rights of return and

volume rebates give rise to variable consideration.

(a)  Rights of return
For contracts which provide a customer with
a right to return the goods within a specified
period, the expected value method is used to
estimate the goods that will not be returned
because this method best predicts the amount of
variable consideration to which the Group will
be entitled. The requirements in HKFRS 15 on
constraining estimates of variable consideration
are applied in order to determine the amount of
variable consideration that can be included in the
transaction price. For goods that are expected to
be returned, instead of revenue,